Prokineticin Receptor 2 Expressing Neurons of the Posterior Amygdala and Their Role in Reproductive Physiology

by

Brenda Cisneros Larios

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Molecular and Integrative Physiology) in the University of Michigan 2023

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Carol F. Elias, Chair Professor Sally Camper Associate Professor Carrie Ferrario Professor Suzanne Moenter Brenda Cisneros Larios

bcisne@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0009-0003-6344-7360

© Brenda Cisneros Larios 2023

Dedication

To my parents, Rafael and Guadalupe. Your sacrifices have opened many doors for me. Your life journey is a constant reminder that quitting is never an option. La vida me dio unos padres maravillosos. Gracias por tanto amor. ¡Si se pudo!

To my tíos, Martin, Isidro, and Jesús, for being a source of unconditional love and support. You are an example of what can be accomplished with hard work and dedication.

To my tía Sagy, for being a leadership role model and an advocate for education. Siempre puedo contar con palabras de amor y motivación de su parte.

Acknowledgements

Many thanks to:

My third-grade teacher, Rebecca Bradley, for believing in me since day one and nurturing a friendship with my parents demonstrating educators can become lifelong mentors and friends.

My now retired middle school science teacher, Van Herwynen, for making science class fun and engaging and shaping my interest in science.

My former TRiO academic advisor, Raul Pasamonte, for the immense support and help with college applications and navigating high school. Most students tour college campuses with their parents, but I did not. Instead, I toured them with you, other staff, and a bunch of highschoolers. Thank you for helping me beat the odds and ensuring I could advance through the academic pipeline. I would not be here if it was not for your dedication to helping first generation college students and students from minoritized backgrounds. I thank you for dedicating your life to helping students overcome barriers in education.

My undergraduate professor, mentor and former employer, Kimberly Tanner, for sharing her passion for diversity, equity, and inclusion in the sciences. Thank you for dedicating your career to improving the way science is taught in the classroom, for the opportunities to volunteer and work for SEPAL and for your consistent support. I am grateful to have you as a lifelong mentor. Always SEPAL people.

My undergraduate and master's mentor, Megumi Fuse, for introducing me to the world of research and for the pep talks to uplift my spirit when things got rough. Thank you for supporting my science outreach activities.

My dissertation committee. Thank you for the feedback and words of encouragement. Thank you for sharing your expertise and insights and for shaping my critical thinking skills.

My PhD advisor Carol Elias. Thank you for your patience and understanding. I am grateful to have found an awesome mentor in reproductive physiology that embodies the mentorship qualities I was looking for. Thank you for nurturing a welcoming and safe working environment. Thank you for your mentorship and being supportive of my interests outside of academia.

To the Elias Lab members during my time. Thank you for making lab a welcoming environment. Thank you for the treats, the fun, the outings, the science, and the trainings. Special thanks to Susan Allen, former lab manager, for not only making sure our lab ran smoothly but for also making sure I was doing well being far from family.

To the Moenter lab during my time. Thank you for the scientific feedback, the training, and the delicious baked goods.

To ULAM and the Animal Phenotyping Core for their work in animal husbandry and data collection, respectively. Special thanks to Jiane for performing complex surgeries for my project.

To the MIP community for their support throughout this journey. To the administrative staff for ensuring things were always running smoothly. To Michele Boggs for always addressing my concerns.

To the directors of the STPP program and the educators along the way. Thank you for shaping my career interest and offering so much advise and resources.

To all the educators I've encountered that care deeply for their students. Thank you for inspiring, thank you for your work.

To the SACNAS Chapter, and every organization I volunteered with during my time in Michigan. Thank you for being a source of support and nurturing a community of scientists from all disciplines and backgrounds.

To my Michigan friends for making Ann Arbor a fun time. Thank you for the memories, the academic advice, the life advice, the trips and for sharing your culture and interests with me.

To my California friends, for continuously reminding me that distance is not an obstacle for lifelong friendships and for constantly offering words of empowerment as I navigated this degree.

Table of Contents

Dedicationii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Tablesx
List of Figuresxi
Abstractxv
Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 GnRH neurons and Congenital Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism
1.2 Kallmann Syndrome5
1.2.1 ANOS1/KAL15
1.2.2 FGFR1
1.2.3 CHD7
1.2.4 PROKR2
1.3 Prokineticins Role in Reproduction and Kallmann Syndrome7
1.3.1 Ligands: PROK1 and PROK28
1.3.2 Receptors: PROKR1 and PROKR28
1.3.3 PROK2/PROKR2 in Reproduction
1.4 Current Mouse Models for PROK2/PROKR2 studies10
1.5 Current Gap in Knowledge11
1.5.1 Hypothesis
1.6 References

Chapter 2 Sex Differences in the Coexpression of Prokineticin Receptor 2 and Gonadal Steroids Receptors in Mice	23
2.1 Abstract	23
2.2 Introduction	24
2.3 Materials and Methods	25
2.3.1 Animals	25
2.3.2 Perfusion and brain histology	26
2.3.3 Dual label immunoperoxidase	27
2.3.4 Imaging and data analysis	28
2.3.5 Statistics	28
2.4 Results	29
2.4.1 Distribution of AR and ER α in ProkR2-Cre eGFP neurons of male mice	29
2.4.2 Distribution of AR and ER α in ProkR2-Cre eGFP neurons of female mice	30
2.4.3 Colocalization of ProkrR2-Cre eGFP with AR or with ER α in the posterior nucleus of the amygdala (PA) shows sex differences.	32
2.5 Discussion	33
2.6 References	38
2.7 Copyright	43
Chapter 3 The Prokineticin Receptor 2 Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Densely Innerva Forebrain Sites Associated with Reproductive Neuroendocrine Function and Motivated Behaviors	ıte 49
3.1 Introduction	49
3.2 Methods	51
3.2.1 Animals	51
3.2.2 Stereotaxic Injections	52
3.2.3 Perfusions and Brain Histology	52
3.2.4 Immunohistochemistry	53

3.2.5 Imaging	53
3.3 Results	54
3.3.1 Posterior Amygdala ProkR2-Cre neurons project to reproductive control sites	54
3.4 Discussion	55
3.5 References	58
Chapter 4 Prokineticin Receptor 2 Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Respond to Olfactory Cues and Stimulate Luteinizing Hormone Release	68
4.1 Introduction	68
4.2 Methods	69
4.2.1 Animals	69
4.2.2 Mating Behavior	70
4.2.3 Soiled Bedding Odor Test	71
4.2.4 Immunofluorescence	71
4.2.5 Stereotaxic Injection	72
4.2.6 Posterior Amygdala ProkR2-Cre Cell Activation and Culex Automated Blood Collection	72
4.2.7 Perfusion and Brain Histology	73
4.2.8 Luteinizing Hormone Analysis	73
4.2.9 Dual-label Immunoperoxidase:	73
4.2.10 Statistics	74
4.2.11 Image Capture	74
4.3 Results	74
4.3.1 ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala respond to conspecific opposite sex olfactory cues.	74
4.3.2 Chemogenetic activation of ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala increase LH levels in male mice.	76
4.4 Discussion	77

4.5 References	80
Chapter 5 Conclusions	
5.1 Limitations and Future Studies	93

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Most common genetic causes in IGD patients. Modified from Balasubramanian and
<i>Crowley, 2022</i> [29]4
Table 2.1: Subjective analysis of the coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) or estrogen receptor α (ER α) immunoreactivity in male and female brains. Only Notations -, +/-, +, and +++ represent absent, very low, low, and high colocalization. The Allen Mouse Brain atlas was used as a reference for brain nuclei and localization (atlas
image)
Table 2.2: Quantification of cells coexpressing ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) or estrogen receptor α (ER α) immunoreactivity in the posterior nucleus of the amygdala of male and female mouse brains
Table 3.1: Primers used for genotyping experimental animals. 51

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Schematic illustration of the hypothalamo-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis. GnRH neurons release GnRH that stimulates the anterior pituitary gland to synthesize and secrete gonadotropins (luteinizing hormone and follicle stimulation hormone). Gonadotropins stimulate the gonads for synthesis and release of sex steroids. Sex steroids regulate upstream reproductive hormones via feedback loops (positive feedback mechanism applies to females only). <i>Modified from Hill and Elias, 2018</i> [94]
Figure 1.2: Schematic illustration of GnRH neuron precursor cells and their migratory pathway. GnRH neuron precursor cells originating in the olfactory placode migrate along olfactory axons through the cribriform plate and olfactory bulb to the medial preoptic area. <i>Modified from</i> Crowley, 2011.
Figure 2.1: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) in the forebrain of the male mouse. (A–L) Bright field micrographs showing the expression of AR (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the lateral septal nucleus, LS (A,B), the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, BST (C,D), the medial preoptic nucleus, MPN (E,F), the arcuate nucleus, ARH (G,H), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, ventrolateral subdivision, VMHvl (I,J), the medial nucleus of the nucleus, and posterodorsal subdivision, MEApd (K,L). Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle; opt, optic tract; 3 V, third ventricle. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G,I,K) = 200 μ m; (B,D,F,H,J,L) = 50 μ m.
Figure 2.2: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and estrogen receptor α (ER α) in the forebrain of the male mouse. (A–L) Bright field micrographs showing the expression of ER α (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the lateral septal nucleus, LS (A,B), the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, BST (C,D), the medial preoptic nucleus, MPN (E,F), the arcuate nucleus, ARH (G,H), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, ventrolateral subdivision, VMHvl (I,J) and the medial nucleus of the amygdala, posterodorsal subdivision, MEApd (K,L). Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle; opt, optic tract; 3 V, third ventricle. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G,I,K) = 200 μ m; (B,D,F,H,J,L) = 50 μ m.
Figure 2.3: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) in the forebrain of the female mouse. (A–L) Bright field micrographs showing the expression of AR (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the lateral septal nucleus, LS (A,B), the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, BST (C,D), the medial preoptic nucleus, MPN (E,F), the arcuate nucleus, ARH (G,H), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, ventrolateral subdivision, VMHvl (I,J), and the medial nucleus of the amygdala, the posterodorsal subdivision, MEApd (K,L). Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle; opt, optic tract; 3 V, third ventricle. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G,I,K) = 200 μ m; (B,D,F,H,J,L) = 50 μ m

Figure 3.4: Representative images of dense varicosities observed in posterior amygdala ProrkR2-Cre projections to reproductive control sites. (A) Dense projections in the medial preoptic area show terminal-like boutons (B) Dense projections in the ventromedial Figure 4.6: Chemogenetic activation of ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala (PA) induces luteinizing hormone (LH) secretion. (A) CNO increases LH in males with successful hM3Dq injection in the posterior amygdala. Each green line represents one mouse. The dark green line represents mean \pm SEM of all data combined (n= 6 mice). (B) CNO increases LH in males with hM3Dq injections centered in the posterior amygdala with contamination of adjacent nuclei (posteroventral subdivision of the medial amygdala (MePV) and cortical

Abstract

The reproductive neuroendocrine axis is tightly regulated by feedback loops controlling appropriate hormone levels for sexual maturation and reproductive success. Neuronal inputs from physiological processes that can affect reproduction (e.g., metabolism and sleep) converge to stimulate gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons. Pulsatile GnRH release stimulates the pituitary biosynthesis and secretion of gonadotropins, luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH). Gonadotropins in turn stimulate the gonadal steroidogenesis and gametogenesis.

During development, GnRH neurons must migrate from the olfactory epithelium to the hypothalamus. Deficits in this developmental process results in Kallmann syndrome (KS). KS is characterized by GnRH deficiency and impaired or complete loss of sense of smell (hyposmia or anosmia, respectively). The prokineticin 2 and prokineticin receptor 2 (PROK2/PROKR2) system has been identified as a key component in migratory process of GnRH neurons. In fact, mice with global deletion of *Prokr2* replicate the phenotype of KS patients by displaying olfactory bulb dysgenesis and significant decrease in number of GnRH neurons in the hypothalamus. Though PROK2/PROKR2 system has been implicated in this developmental process, many aspects remain unclear and knowledge on neuronal networks of the PROK2/PROKR2 system is limited.

Aside from a developmental role, *Prokr2* is widely expressed in many reproductive control sites. Our lab generated a ProkR2-Cre mouse model allowing for functional studies and the neural circuitry. We hypothesized that ProkR2 expressing neurons have a role in adult reproductive function. To test our hypothesis, we set out to determine if ProkR2-Cre cells co-express gonadal steroid receptors relevant for reproductive success (estrogen receptor alpha and the androgen receptor). We found that the only brain site co-expressing Prokr2 and either receptor is the posterior amygdala. Building on this, we described the projection pattern of ProkR2-Cre neurons in the posterior amygdala of male and female mice using an adeno-associated viral vector (AAV) for molecular mapping. We found projections to several reproductive control sites such as the lateral septum, the medial preoptic area and the ventral premammillary nucleus. Lastly, we did a series of functional studies (i.e., sexual behavior, response to opposite and same sex odors, chemogenetic activation) to uncover the role of ProkR2 expressing neurons in the posterior amygdala. We found these neurons are highly responsive to opposite sex odor and have a role in opposite sex recognition in males. We also found that chemogenetic activation of these neurons can induce luteinizing hormone secretion. Our findings reveal that the Prokr2-expressing neurons of the posterior amygdala are part of a neuron circuitry that can sense the gonadal steroid milieu, integrate olfactory cues and modulate the neuroendocrine responses.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Recent estimates by the World Health Organization state that one in six people, globally, have experienced infertility at some stage in their life [1]. Infertility is defined as a couple's inability to get pregnant during a 12-month period of unprotected sex [2]. In the United States, it is estimated that about 9% of men and 11% of woman of reproductive age are affected by infertility [3]. Today, couples that are diagnosed with infertility have access to treatments and technologies that can result in successful pregnancy. In other cases, couples are diagnosed with idiopathic infertility, a clinical condition where the cause of infertility remains unknown. It is estimated that 15-30% of couples are diagnosed with idiopathic infertility [4-7].

Control of reproduction in mammals relies on a complex network of inputs from hypothalamic neurons that converge to regulate the activity of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons. GnRH neurons of the hypothalamus release GnRH peptide in a pulsatile manner to stimulate the pituitary for biosynthesis and secretion of gonadotropins, i.e., luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH). Gonadotropins then stimulate, via peripheral circulation, the gonads for steroidogenesis (androgens, estrogens, and progesterone) and gametogenesis (oocyte and spermatozoa). Through a feedback mechanism, gonadal steroids regulate release of reproductive hormones at the hypothalamic and pituitary level (Fig. 1.1) [8-14]. Proper development of all components of the HPG axis is critical for reproductive function. Abnormal development of the HPG axis results in reproductive hormone deficiencies or abnormal hormone profiles affecting fertility.

1



Figure 1.1: Schematic illustration of the hypothalamo-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis. GnRH neurons release GnRH that stimulates the anterior pituitary gland to synthesize and secrete gonadotropins (luteinizing hormone and follicle stimulation hormone). Gonadotropins stimulate the gonads for synthesis and release of sex steroids. Sex steroids regulate upstream reproductive hormones via feedback loops (positive feedback mechanism applies to females only). *Modified from Hill and Elias, 2018* [94].

Reproductive dysfunction can arise from abnormal migration and development of GnRH neurons. Approximately 1,500 GnRH neurons are found in the preoptic area and the caudal hypothalamus (in primates) and project to the median eminence where GnRH is released [15-17]. However, GnRH neurons have origins outside of the brain (Fig. 1.2). GnRH precursor cells arise in the olfactory placode and migrate, via olfactory axons, along the olfactory epithelium through the cribriform plate. They progress through the olfactory bulb and move along the tract to reach the medial preoptic area of the hypothalamus [18-21]. GnRH cells leave the nasal placode around embryonic day 11 and their migration journey continues through the cribriform plate at embryonic day 16.5 [22-23]. Successful migration is necessary for normal reproductive function [24-25].

1.1 GnRH neurons and Congenital Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism



Figure 1.2: Schematic illustration of GnRH neuron precursor cells and their migratory pathway. GnRH neuron precursor cells originating in the olfactory placode migrate along olfactory axons through the cribriform plate and olfactory bulb to the medial preoptic area. *Modified from* Crowley, 2011.

Congenital hypogonadotropic hypogonadism (CHH) are diseases characterized by GnRH hormone deficiency resulting in incomplete sexual development and/or infertility [26-28]. It is

estimated that 1:8,000 men and 1:40,000 women are affected by this condition [28]. CHH is divided in three subtypes: syndromic forms of CHH (with additional non reproductive phenotypes e.g., cardiovascular defects, cleft/lip palate), isolated gonadotropin deficiency (IGD), and Kallmann syndrome (KS). CHH coupled with normosmia (normal olfaction) is classified as nIGD while those with olfactory deficits (anosmia or hyposmia) are diagnosed as KS [29].

Genetics studies coupled with animal models and advances in scientific tools have permitted identification of key genes in the pathogenesis of CHH and disruption of the HPG axis development. Synergistic effects of different mutations can explain the phenotypic variabilities of patients diagnosed with CHH. They have also revealed oligogenic inheritance as individuals can share genetic mutations and appear normal [30-32]. As of now, there are more than 60 loci identified for CHH and 17 have been linked to KS [27, 28, 33-34]. Table 1 contains a list of the most common (~ 5% or more) genes associated with KS.

Gene	Name	% of IGD attributed to pathogenic genetic variants
NOSI (KALI)	Anosmin 1	5%-10% (KS)
CHD7	Chromodomain-helicase- DNA-binding protein 7	5%-10% (KS or nIGD)
FGFRI	Fibroblast growth factor receptor 1	~10% (KS or nIGD)

Table 1.1: Most common genetic causes in IGD patients. Modified from Balasubramanian and Crowley, 2022 [29].

Gene	Name	% of IGD attributed to pathogenic genetic variants
PROKR2	Prokineticin receptor 2	~5% (KS or nIGD)

1.2 Kallmann Syndrome

The earliest characterization of congenital atrophy of the testicles with lack of olfactory nerves was documented by Spanish scientist Aureliano Maestre de San Juan in 1856 [35]. Eighty-eight years later, Franz Josef Kallmann outlined the hereditary aspects of hypogonadism with anosmia by studying three affected families [36]. Hypogonadism and absence or impaired olfactory bulb development continued to be documented in humans until the seminal study of Naftolin and colleagues (1971) describing that GnRH hormone deficiency was the cause of infertility in KS patients [37].

Among the genetic causes of KS, several genes have been identified and found in families affected by this clinical condition.

1.2.1 ANOS1/KAL1

The gene ANOS1/*KAL1* is located on chromosome Xp22.31. It is composed of 14 exons that encode the protein anosmin-1, an extracellular matrix glycoprotein of 100kDa. It was the first protein discovered to be involved in GnRH neuronal migration [38]. Anosmin 1 is a cysteine rich protein with four fibronectin type III domains that interacts with components of the extracellular matrix. It appears to stimulate afferent projections to the olfactory bulb therefore essential for

guidance and migration of GnRH neurons [39-40]. This gene follows an X-linked inheritance patterns and has been reported in 5-10% of KS patients [39, 41-42].

1.2.2 FGFR1

FGFR1 gene, also called *KAL2*, is located on chromosome 8p11.23. It is composed of 18 axons that encode fibroblast growth factor receptor 1. This gene is alternatively spliced generating multiple splice variants and is a member of the receptor tyrosine kinase [43]. *FGFR1* expression is found in the nasal epithelium and in the vomeronasal organ and is required for olfactory bulb morphogenesis [44-45]. FGFR1 signaling pathway is amplified by the modulatory co-ligand, anosmin 1, inducing neurite outgrowth in human embryonic GnRH olfactory neuroblasts [46]. FGFR1 signaling and GnRH neuronal fate was also investigated in mice confirming its role in GnRH development [47]. Loss of function mutation in FGFR1 is responsible for autosomal dominant KS [48]. Mutations in this gene can account for an estimated 10% of KS or nIGD patients [29,49].

1.2.3 CHD7

CHD7 is located on chromosome 8q12.2. It is composed of 38 exons and codes for the chromodomain helicase DNA-binding protein 7 (CHD7). Over half of patients diagnosed with CHARGE syndrome, a disordered characterized by eye coloboma, heart defects, choanal atresia, retardation of growth and development, gonadal defects, and ear/hearing abnormalities, harbor mutations in this gene [50]. *CHD7* mRNA expression has been reported in migratory and post migratory GnRH neuronal cell lines. Additionally, expression has been reported in the hypothalamus, pituitary, and olfactory bulb of rats [51]. CHD7 has also been shown to regulate neural crest cell guidance genes as well as *SEMA3A*. SEMA3A is important for olfactory system

6

development and GnRH neuronal migration [52-55]. Mutations in this gene are found in 5-10% of cases with nIGD [29, 51, 56-57].

1.2.4 PROKR2

PROKR2 is located on chromosome 20p12.3. The gene encodes the prokineticin receptor 2, a Gprotein coupled receptor belonging to the rhodopsin family [58-60]. PROKR2 is a 7transmembrane domain protein with an extracellular N-terminus and an intracellular C-terminus. Engagement of PROKR2 by its ligand, prokineticin receptor 2, results in conformational changes that can promote intracellular Ca⁺⁺ mobilization (activates G α q/11 proteins and the intracellular effector phospholipase C) and are also capable of coupling and activating Gi, Gs pathways (G α s proteins which activates adenylyl cyclase) [58-59,61]. Experiments using knockout mice for PROKR2 have determined that PROKR2 signaling is critical for olfactory bulb morphogenesis and sexual maturation and loss-of-function mutations in PROKR2 results in impaired GnRH neuronal migration [30, 62-63,71]. An estimated 5-10% of IGD patients harbor mutations in PROKR2 [29,49].

1.3 Prokineticins Role in Reproduction and Kallmann Syndrome

Prokineticins have been studied in a wide range of physiological functions across species. Prokineticin 1 (PROK1) and Prokineticin 2 (PROK2) are closely related neuropeptides initially characterized as proteins involved in generating contractions in the smooth muscle of the gastrointestinal tract [64]. Subsequently, research from different laboratories has implicated prokineticin signaling in regulation of circadian rhythms, metabolism, pain perception, immune responses and haematopoeisis [65-70]. Research focused on the brain and olfactory system showed that prokineticin signaling has also a role in reproductive function, and olfactory bulb development [62, 71-72].

1.3.1 Ligands: PROK1 and PROK2

The gene for PROK1 is located on chromosome 1p13.3 in humans while the gene for PROK2 is located on chromosome 3p21.1. These ligands share an estimated 44% amino acid sequence. PROK1 is an 86 amino acid protein while PROK2 is an 81 amino acid protein. They share the N-terminal sequence AVITGA, that has been deemed important for their biological function, and conserved cysteines believed to form disulfide bonds [60,73]. Genetic mutations in this conserved region results in modifications of the cysteine residues and no biological activity [73]. PROK1 and PROK2 are for the most part differentially expressed in tissues. PROK1 expression has been found predominantly in the ovary, testis, adrenal cortex and placenta [74, 58, 75-77] and PROK2 has high expression in the central nervous system [65, 78-81].

PROK1 and PROK2 share affinity to two G-protein coupled receptors, prokineticin receptor 1 and 2 (PROKR1 and PROKR2) [58, 61, 82]. Activity and function of both ligands is limited by their differential expression, but also the expression patterns of the target receptors.

1.3.2 Receptors: PROKR1 and PROKR2

PROKR1 and PROKR2 show an estimated 87% amino acid sequence similarity [61, 64, 82]. Despite their similar biochemical properties, PROKR1 and PROKR2 receptors are differentially expressed and have been linked to different physiological functions. PROKR1 is mainly expressed in peripheral tissues including the gastrointestinal tract, whereas PROKR2 is primarily expressed in the brain and olfactory structures [61,64, 79, 83]. Both ligands, PROK1 and PROK2 can activate PROKR2 with similar potency [82].

1.3.3 PROK2/PROKR2 in Reproduction

PROKR2 has been implicated in the regulation of reproduction in both humans and mice. PROKR2 was identified as a novel gene in KS in a cohort of 192 patients. It was found that patients in this study harbored heterozygous, homozygous, or compound heterozygous mutations in the *PROKR2* gene [84]. Individuals harboring PROKR2 mutations had different degrees of reproductive dysfunction and olfactory deficits [84]. A second study further reported the variability in reproductive dysfunction in individuals harboring mutations in the PROK2/PROKR2 system. A homozygous deletion in the PROK2 gene, resulting in a protein lacking bioactivity, was identified in two siblings with varying IGD. Only one of them had anosmia. Another sibling harboring a heterozygous mutation was unaffected [30]. Further mutations in *PROK2* and *PROKR2* genes have been reported, highlighting the complexities of *PROK2/PROKR2* in the pathogenesis of KS [85-93]

Functional studies focused on *PROK2/PROKR2* mutations were boosted by the development of the *Prokr2* null mice. These mice display a KS-like syndrome with atrophy of the reproductive system and hypoplasia of the olfactory bulbs [71]. These findings were unique to *Prokr2* null mice because despite the reported similarity in sequence with *Prokr1*, *Prokr1* null mice had no reproductive or olfactory deficits. *Prokr2* null mice had reduced number of GnRH neurons in the medial septum and preoptic area and decreased GnRH innervation of the median eminence, suggesting impairment in GnRH neuronal migration [71]. Similarly, *Prok2* null mice showed impaired olfactory bulb morphogenesis, neurogenesis and also had reproductive deficits [30, 62].

9

Together, these studies demonstrate that PROK2-induced PROKR2 signaling is required for olfactory bulb development, GnRH neuronal migration and sexual maturation. It is worth noting that immunohistochemistry analysis has shown that GnRH neurons do not express detectable PROKR2 and therefore they are likely two distinct populations interacting via an unknown mechanism [30]. In both studies, heterozygous mice were not significantly affected.

The *Prokr2* null mice uncovered a reproductive role of this system, particularly the GnRH neuronal migration. These mouse models, however, prevent further studies of the role of PROKR2 in reproduction since they lack adequate GnRH neuronal migration and proper reproductive neuroendocrine function.

1.4 Current Mouse Models for PROK2/PROKR2 studies

Limitations in animal models have hindered research in physiological regulated by prokineticins. Several transgenic mice have been created to study aspects of PROK2/PROKR2. Besides previously mentioned animal models, there are a few others that have been used to understand the PROK2/PROKR2 system. For example, a PROK2-GFP mouse model was used to assess estrogen receptor colocalization [72]. Mice with deletion or overexpression of *Prok2* and PROKR2-GFP mice were produced to assess PROK2 role in the suprachiasmatic circadian clock [95- 97]. It is believed that PROK2 is an output molecule for the circadian clock. Altogether, these mouse models serve as method to label and characterize these neurons and identify coexpression of neurotransmitters, transcription factors, receptors, and other peptides. The limitation of these mouse models is the impossibility of manipulating subpopulations of PROKR2 expressing neurons, and the inability to study the PROKR2 system past development without the confounding variable of neuronal migration and developmental compensation.

With advances in technology our lab was able to generate a mouse model with Cre recombinase expression driven by *Prokr2* gene. With this mouse model, we identified several regions in the brain that display sexually dimorphic expression of PROKR2 [81]. This mouse model allows for the implementation of techniques for remote control of neuronal signaling on populations expressing *Prokr2*. Additionally, it allows for defining brain circuitry applying Cre-induced molecular tracers, deleting genes within PROKR2 expressing cells and characterizing the physiological effects of this deletion. Most importantly, it allows for targeting specific reproductive control sites to further understand the PROKR2 system in adult reproduction.

1.5 Current Gap in Knowledge

Despite the knowledge of expression profiles of PROKR2 and its ligands, the role of Prokr2 in specific brain sites remains unknown. The models prior to our ProkR2-Cre mice, did not allow for the assessment of PROKR2 role in adult reproduction. This is particularly relevant because studies have suggested that the PROKR2 heterozygous null mice displayed abnormal estrous cycles under normal GnRH neuronal migration. It is currently unknown which population of PROKR2 expressing neurons respond to changes in gonadal steroids milieu, where they project and what is the role of distinct subpopulations of PROKR2 expressing cells. Functional roles of specific PROKR2 expressing neurons in reproduction remains to be elucidated.

11

1.5.1 Hypothesis

We *hypothesize* that ProkR2 expressing neurons have a role in adult reproductive function. The *objective* of my doctoral studies was to investigate if PROKR2 has a role in reproductive function beyond GnRH migration. My findings are subdivided in the following chapters:

In chapter 2, I describe the ProkR2-Cre neurons that co-express gonadal steroid receptors relevant for reproductive success: the estrogen receptor alpha (ERα) and the androgen receptor (AR). I show that the only brain site co-expressing Prokr2 and either receptor is the posterior amygdala. This chapter was published in Frontiers in Neuroanatomy [98].

In chapter 3, I describe the projection pattern of ProkR2-Cre neurons in the posterior amygdala of male and female mice using an adeno-associated viral vector (AAV) for molecular mapping.

In chapter 4, I performed a series of functional studies (i.e., sexual behavior, response to opposite and same sex odors, chemogenetic activation and inhibition) to uncover the role of ProkR2 in the posterior amygdala. I show that these neurons are highly responsive to opposite sex odor and have a role in opposite sex recognition in males.

In chapter 5, I discuss the findings in an integrated format, the limitations of my studies and propose future directions for the field.

1.6 References

- 1. Infertility prevalence estimates, 1990–2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 2. Zegers-Hochschild, F., Adamson, G. D., Dyer, S., Racowsky, C., de Mouzon, J., Sokol, R., et al. (2017). The International Glossary on Infertility and Fertility Care, 2017. *Fertil Steril* 108, 393–406. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.06.005.
- **3.** Key Statistics from the National Survey of Family Growth I Listing (2022). *CDC-National Center for Health Statistics*. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nsfg/key_statistics/i-keystat.htm#infertility [Accessed May 19, 2023].
- 4. Templeton, A. A., and Penney, G. C. (1982). The incidence, characteristics, and prognosis of patients whose infertility is unexplained. *Fertil. Steril.* 37, 175–182. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)46035-8.
- 5. Collins, J. A., and Crosignani, P. G. (1992). Unexplained infertility: a review of diagnosis, prognosis, treatment efficacy and management. *Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet.* 39, 267–275. doi: 10.1016/0020-7292(92)90257-J.
- 6. Boes, A.-S., De Neubourg, D., Peeraer, K., Tomassetti, C., Meuleman, C., and D'Hooghe, T. (2018). "Unexplained infertility," in *Evidence-based Obstetrics and Gynecology* (Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd), 145–153. doi: 10.1002/9781119072980.ch14.
- 7. Mol, B. W., and Hart, R. J. (2020). Unexplained Infertility. *Semin. Reprod. Med.* 38, 001–002. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1721425.
- 8. Döcke, F., and Dörner, G. (1965). The mechanism of the induction of ovulation by oestrogens. *J. Endocrinol.* 33, 491–499. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.0330491.
- **9.** Herbison, A. E. (2005). "Physiology of the Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neuronal Network," in *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction* (Elsevier), 1415,VII-1482,VII. doi: 10.1016/B978-012515400-0/50033-6.
- Clarke, I. J., and Cummins, J. T. (1982). The temporal relationship between gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) secretion in ovariectomized EWES. *Endocrinology* 111, 1737–1739. doi: 10.1210/endo-111-5-1737.
- 11. Haisenleder, D. J., Khoury, S., Zmeili, S. M., Papavasiliou, S., Ortolano, G. A., Dee, C., et al. (1987). The Frequency of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Secretion Regulates Expression of α and Luteinizing Hormone β-Subunit Messenger Ribonucleic Acids in Male Rats. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 1, 834–838. doi: 10.1210/mend-1-11-834.

- Goodman, R. L., and Daniel, K. (1985). Modulation of Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone Secretion by Ovarian Steroids in the Rat 1. *Biol. Reprod.* 32, 217–225. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod32.2.217.
- Leipheimer, R. E., Bona-Gallo, A., and Gallo, R. V. (1985). Ovarian Steroid Regulation of Pulsatile Luteinizing Hormone Release during the Interval between the Mornings of Diestrus 2 and Proestrus in the Rat. *Neuroendocrinology* 41, 252–257. doi: 10.1159/000124185.
- 14. Hileman, S. M., and Jackson, G. L. (1999). Regulation of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone secretion by testosterone in male sheep. *J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl.* 54, 231–42. doi: 10692858.
- Antunes, J. L., Carmel, P. W., Housepian, E. M., and Ferin, M. (1978). Luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone in human pituitary blood. *J Neurosurg* 49, 382–386. doi: 10.3171/jns.1978.49.3.0382.
- Merchenthaler, I., Göres, T., Sétáló, G., Petrusz, P., and Flerkó, B. (1984). Gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH) neurons and pathways in the rat brain. *Cell Tissue Res* 237. doi: 10.1007/BF00229195.
- **17.** Wray, S., and Hoffman, G. (1986). A developmental study of the quantitative distribution of LHRH neurons within the central nervous system of postnatal male and female rats. *J Comp Neurol* 252, 522–31. doi: 10.1002/cne.902520408.
- **18.** Wray, S., Grant, P., and Gainer, H. (1989a). Evidence that cells expressing luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone mRNA in the mouse are derived from progenitor cells in the olfactory placode. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86, 8132–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.20.8132.
- Wray, S., Nieburgs, A., and Elkabes, S. (1989b). Spatiotemporal cell expression of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone in the prenatal mouse: evidence for an embryonic origin in the olfactory placode. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 46, 309–18. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(89)90295-2.
- **20.** Fueshko, S., and Wray, S. (1994). LHRH cells migrate on peripherin fibers in embryonic olfactory explant cultures: an in vitro model for neurophilic neuronal migration. *Dev Biol* 166, 331–48. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1994.1319.
- **21.** Schwanzel-Fukuda, M. (1999). Origin and migration of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone neurons in mammals. *Microsc Res Tech* 44, 2–10. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0029(19990101)44:1<2::AID-JEMT2>3.0.CO;2-4.
- **22.** Wray, S. (2001). Development of Luteinizing Hormone Releasing Hormone Neurones. J. *Neuroendocrinol.* 13, 3–11. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.2001.00609.x.
- **23.** Wray, S. (2010). From Nose to Brain: Development of Gonadotrophin-Releasing Hormone 1 Neurones. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 22, 743–753. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2010.02034.x.

- **24.** Crowley, W. F. (2011). The developmental biology of the GnRH neurons. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 346, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2011.06.023.
- **25.** Wierman, M. E., Kiseljak-Vassiliades, K., and Tobet, S. (2011). Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neuron migration: Initiation, maintenance and cessation as critical steps to ensure normal reproductive function. *Front Neuroendocrinol* 32, 43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2010.07.005.
- 26. Seminara, S. B., Hayes, F. J., and Crowley, W. F. (1998). Gonadotropin-releasing hormone deficiency in the human (idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism and Kallmann's syndrome): pathophysiological and genetic considerations. *Endocr Rev* 19, 521–39. doi: 10.1210/edrv.19.5.0344.
- 27. Boehm, U., Bouloux, P.-M., Dattani, M. T., de Roux, N., Dodé, C., Dunkel, L., et al. (2015). Expert consensus document: European Consensus Statement on congenital hypogonadotropic hypogonadism--pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 11, 547–64. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.112.
- 28. Kim, S. H. (2015). Congenital Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism and Kallmann Syndrome: Past, Present, and Future. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* 30, 456–66. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2015.30.4.456.
- **29.** Balasubramanian, R., and Crowley, W. J. (2022). *Isolated Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) Deficiency.*, ed. E. Adam MP, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, et al. GeneReviews® [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993-2023. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1334/.
- 30. Pitteloud, N., Zhang, C., Pignatelli, D., Li, J.-D., Raivio, T., Cole, L. W., et al. (2007b). Loss-of-function mutation in the prokineticin 2 gene causes Kallmann syndrome and normosmic idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104, 17447–17452. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707173104.
- **31.** Pitteloud, N., Quinton, R., Pearce, S., Raivio, T., Acierno, J., Dwyer, A., et al. (2007a). Digenic mutations account for variable phenotypes in idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 117, 457–463. doi: 10.1172/JCI29884.
- **32.** Dodé, C., and Hardelin, J.-P. (2009). Kallmann syndrome. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 17, 139–146. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.206.
- **33.** Stamou, M. I., and Georgopoulos, N. A. (2018). Kallmann syndrome: phenotype and genotype of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Metabolism* 86, 124–134. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.10.012.

- **34.** Young, J., Xu, C., Papadakis, G. E., Acierno, J. S., Maione, L., Hietamäki, J., et al. (2019). Clinical Management of Congenital Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism. *Endocr Rev* 40, 669–710. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00116.
- **35.** de San Juan, A Maestre and Teratologia, A. (1856). Falta total de los nerviosolfactorios con anosmia en un individuo en quien existia una atrofia congenita de los testiculos y miembro viril. *Siglo Medico* 131, 211.
- **36.** Kallmann, F. J. (1944). The genetic aspect of primary eunuchoidism. *Am J Ment Defic* 48, 203–236.
- 37. Naftolin, F., Harris, G. W., and Bobrow, M. (1971). Effect of Purified Luteinizing Hormone Releasing Factor on Normal and Hypogonadotrophic Anosmic Men. *Nature* 232, 496–497. doi: 10.1038/232496a0.
- 38. Schwanzel-Fukuda, M., Bick, D., and Pfaff, D. W. (1989). Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH)-expressing cells do not migrate normally in an inherited hypogonadal (Kallmann) syndrome. *Molecular Brain Research* 6, 311–326. doi: 10.1016/0169-328X(89)90076-4.
- **39.** Legouis, R., Hardelin, J. P., Levilliers, J., Claverie, J. M., Compain, S., Wunderle, V., et al. (1991). The candidate gene for the X-linked Kallmann syndrome encodes a protein related to adhesion molecules. *Cell* 67, 423–35. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90193-3.
- 40. Hardelin, J. P., Julliard, A. K., Moniot, B., Soussi-Yanicostas, N., Verney, C., Schwanzel-Fukuda, M., et al. (1999). Anosmin-1 is a regionally restricted component of basement membranes and interstitial matrices during organogenesis: implications for the developmental anomalies of X chromosome-linked Kallmann syndrome. *Dev Dyn* 215, 26–44. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(199905)215:1<26::AID-DVDY4>3.0.CO;2-D.
- **41.** Hardelin, J.-P., Levilliers, J., Blanchard, S., Carel, J.-C., Leutenegger, M., Pinard-Bertelletto, J.-P., et al. (1993). Heterogeneity in the mutations responsible for X chromosome-linked Kallmann syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet* 2, 373–377. doi: 10.1093/hmg/2.4.373.
- **42.** Albuisson, J., Pêcheux, C., Carel, J.-C., Lacombe, D., Leheup, B., Lapuzina, P., et al. (2005). Kallmann syndrome: 14 novel mutations in KAL1 and FGFR1 (KAL2). *Hum Mutat* 25, 98–99. doi: 10.1002/humu.9298.
- **43.** Groth, C., and Lardelli, M. (2002). The structure and function of vertebrate fibroblast growth factor receptor 1. *Int J Dev Biol* 46, 393–400. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12141425.
- 44. Britto, J. A., Evans, R. D., Hayward, R. D., and Jones, B. M. (2002). Toward pathogenesis of Apert cleft palate: FGF, FGFR, and TGF beta genes are differentially expressed in sequential stages of human palatal shelf fusion. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J* 39, 332–40. doi: 10.1597/1545-1569_2002_039_0332_tpoacp_2.0.co_2.

- **45.** Hébert, J. M., Lin, M., Partanen, J., Rossant, J., and McConnell, S. K. (2003). FGF signaling through FGFR1 is required for olfactory bulb morphogenesis. *Development* 130, 1101–1111. doi: 10.1242/dev.00334.
- 46. González-Martínez, D., Kim, S.-H., Hu, Y., Guimond, S., Schofield, J., Winyard, P., et al. (2004). Anosmin-1 Modulates Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 1 Signaling in Human Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Olfactory Neuroblasts through a Heparan Sulfate-Dependent Mechanism. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 24, 10384–10392. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3400-04.2004.
- **47.** Gill, J. C., Moenter, S. M., and Tsai, P.-S. (2004). Developmental regulation of gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons by fibroblast growth factor signaling. *Endocrinology* 145, 3830–9. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-0214.
- **48.** Dodé, C., Levilliers, J., Dupont, J.-M., De Paepe, A., Le Dû, N., Soussi-Yanicostas, N., et al. (2003). Loss-of-function mutations in FGFR1 cause autosomal dominant Kallmann syndrome. *Nat Genet* 33, 463–5. doi: 10.1038/ng1122.
- **49.** Martin, C., Balasubramanian, R., Dwyer, A. A., Au, M. G., Sidis, Y., Kaiser, U. B., et al. (2011). The Role of the Prokineticin 2 Pathway in Human Reproduction: Evidence from the Study of Human and Murine Gene Mutations. *Endocr Rev* 32, 225–246. doi: 10.1210/er.2010-0007.
- **50.** Vissers, L. E. L. M., van Ravenswaaij, C. M. A., Admiraal, R., Hurst, J. A., de Vries, B. B. A., Janssen, I. M., et al. (2004). Mutations in a new member of the chromodomain gene family cause CHARGE syndrome. *Nat Genet* 36, 955–7. doi: 10.1038/ng1407.
- **51.** Kim, H.-G., Kurth, I., Lan, F., Meliciani, I., Wenzel, W., Eom, S. H., et al. (2008). Mutations in CHD7, Encoding a Chromatin-Remodeling Protein, Cause Idiopathic Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism and Kallmann Syndrome. *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 83, 511–519. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.09.005.
- **52.** Hanchate, N. K., Giacobini, P., Lhuillier, P., Parkash, J., Espy, C., Fouveaut, C., et al. (2012). SEMA3A, a Gene Involved in Axonal Pathfinding, Is Mutated in Patients with Kallmann Syndrome. *PLoS Genet* 8, e1002896. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002896.
- **53.** Young, J., Metay, C., Bouligand, J., Tou, B., Francou, B., Maione, L., et al. (2012). SEMA3A deletion in a family with Kallmann syndrome validates the role of semaphorin 3A in human puberty and olfactory system development. *Human Reproduction* 27, 1460–1465. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des022.
- **54.** Känsäkoski, J., Fagerholm, R., Laitinen, E.-M., Vaaralahti, K., Hackman, P., Pitteloud, N., et al. (2014). Mutation screening of SEMA3A and SEMA7A in patients with congenital hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Pediatr Res* 75, 641–644. doi: 10.1038/pr.2014.23.

- **55.** Schulz, Y., Wehner, P., Opitz, L., Salinas-Riester, G., Bongers, E. M. H. F., van Ravenswaaij-Arts, C. M. A., et al. (2014). CHD7, the gene mutated in CHARGE syndrome, regulates genes involved in neural crest cell guidance. *Hum Genet* 133, 997–1009. doi: 10.1007/s00439-014-1444-2.
- 56. Balasubramanian, R., Choi, J.-H., Francescatto, L., Willer, J., Horton, E. R., Asimacopoulos, E. P., et al. (2014). Functionally compromised CHD7 alleles in patients with isolated GnRH deficiency. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111, 17953–17958. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1417438111.
- **57.** Marcos, S., Sarfati, J., Leroy, C., Fouveaut, C., Parent, P., Metz, C., et al. (2014). The prevalence of CHD7 missense versus truncating mutations is higher in patients with Kallmann syndrome than in typical CHARGE patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 99, E2138-43. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2110.
- 58. Lin, D. C.-H., Bullock, C. M., Ehlert, F. J., Chen, J.-L., Tian, H., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2002a). Identification and molecular characterization of two closely related G protein-coupled receptors activated by prokineticins/endocrine gland vascular endothelial growth factor. J Biol Chem 277, 19276–80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M202139200.
- **59.** Lin, R., LeCouter, J., Kowalski, J., and Ferrara, N. (2002b). Characterization of endocrine gland-derived vascular endothelial growth factor signaling in adrenal cortex capillary endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 277, 8724–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110594200.
- **60.** Kaser, A., Winklmayr, M., Lepperdinger, G., and Kreil, G. (2003). The AVIT protein family. Secreted cysteine-rich vertebrate proteins with diverse functions. *EMBO Rep* 4, 469–73. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.embor830.
- **61.** Masuda, Y., Takatsu, Y., Terao, Y., Kumano, S., Ishibashi, Y., Suenaga, M., et al. (2002). Isolation and identification of EG-VEGF/prokineticins as cognate ligands for two orphan Gprotein-coupled receptors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 293, 396–402. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02)00239-5.
- **62.** Ng, K. L. (2005). Dependence of Olfactory Bulb Neurogenesis on Prokineticin 2 Signaling. *Science (1979)* 308, 1923–1927. doi: 10.1126/science.1112103.
- **63.** Wen, Y., Zhang, Z., Li, Z., Liu, G., Tao, G., Song, X., et al. (2019). The PROK2/PROKR2 signaling pathway is required for the migration of most olfactory bulb interneurons. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 527, 2931–2947. doi: 10.1002/cne.24719.
- 64. Li, M., Bullock, C. M., Knauer, D. J., Ehlert, F. J., and Zhou, Q. Y. (2001). Identification of Two Prokinetic cDNAs: Recombinant Proteins Potently Contract Gastrointestinal Smooth Muscle. *Mol Pharmacol* 59, 692–698. doi: 10.1124/mol.59.4.692.

- **65.** Cheng, M. Y., Bullock, C. M., Li, C., Lee, A. G., Bermak, J. C., Belluzzi, J., et al. (2002). Prokineticin 2 transmits the behavioural circadian rhythm of the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Nature* 417, 405–10. doi: 10.1038/417405a.
- **66.** LeCouter, J., Zlot, C., Tejada, M., Peale, F., and Ferrara, N. (2004). Bv8 and endocrine gland-derived vascular endothelial growth factor stimulate hematopoiesis and hematopoietic cell mobilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 16813–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407697101.
- 67. Dorsch, M., Qiu, Y., Soler, D., Frank, N., Duong, T., Goodearl, A., et al. (2005). PK1/EG-VEGF induces monocyte differentiation and activation. *J Leukoc Biol* 78, 426–34. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0205061.
- **68.** Prosser, H. M., Bradley, A., Chesham, J. E., Ebling, F. J. P., Hastings, M. H., and Maywood, E. S. (2007). Prokineticin receptor 2 (Prokr2) is essential for the regulation of circadian behavior by the suprachiasmatic nuclei. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104, 648–653. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606884104.
- 69. Negri, L., Lattanzi, R., Giannini, E., Canestrelli, M., Nicotra, A., and Melchiorri, P. (2009). "Chapter 11 Bv8/Prokineticins and their Receptors," in, 145–157. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(09)85011-3.
- **70.** Zhou, W., Li, J.-D., Hu, W.-P., Cheng, M. Y., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2012). Prokineticin 2 is involved in the thermoregulation and energy expenditure. *Regul Pept* 179, 84–90. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2012.08.003.
- 71. Matsumoto, S. -i., Yamazaki, C., Masumoto, K. -h., Nagano, M., Naito, M., Soga, T., et al. (2006). Abnormal development of the olfactory bulb and reproductive system in mice lacking prokineticin receptor PKR2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 4140–4145. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508881103.
- 72. Xiao, L., Zhang, C., Li, X., Gong, S., Hu, R., Balasubramanian, R., et al. (2014). Signaling Role of Prokineticin 2 on the Estrous Cycle of Female Mice. *PLoS One* 9, e90860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090860.
- **73.** Bullock, C. M., Li, J.-D., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2004). Structural Determinants Required for the Bioactivities of Prokineticins and Identification of Prokineticin Receptor Antagonists. *Mol Pharmacol* 65, 582–588. doi: 10.1124/mol.65.3.582.
- **74.** Wechselberger, C., Puglisi, R., Engel, E., Lepperdinger, G., Boitani, C., and Kreil, G. (1999). The mammalian homologues of frog Bv8 are mainly expressed in spermatocytes. *FEBS Lett* 462, 177–81. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(99)01473-8.
- 75. LeCouter, J., Lin, R., Tejada, M., Frantz, G., Peale, F., Hillan, K. J., et al. (2003). The endocrine-gland-derived VEGF homologue Bv8 promotes angiogenesis in the testis: Localization of Bv8 receptors to endothelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, 2685–2690. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0337667100.
- 76. Kisliouk, T., Podlovni, H., Spanel-Borowski, K., Ovadia, O., Zhou, Q.-Y., and Meidan, R. (2005). Prokineticins (Endocrine Gland-Derived Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and BV8) in the Bovine Ovary: Expression and Role as Mitogens and Survival Factors for Corpus Luteum-Derived Endothelial Cells. *Endocrinology* 146, 3950–3958. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0297.
- 77. Hoffmann, P., Feige, J.-J., and Alfaidy, N. (2006). Expression and oxygen regulation of endocrine gland-derived vascular endothelial growth factor/prokineticin-1 and its receptors in human placenta during early pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 147, 1675–84. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0912.
- **78.** Cheng, M. Y., Bittman, E. L., Hattar, S., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2005). Regulation of prokineticin 2 expression by light and the circadian clock. *BMC Neurosci* 6, 17. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-6-17.
- **79.** Cheng, M. Y., Leslie, F. M., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2006). Expression of prokineticins and their receptors in the adult mouse brain. *J Comp Neurol* 498, 796–809. doi: 10.1002/cne.21087.
- **80.** Burton, K. J., Li, X., Li, B., Cheng, M. Y., Urbanski, H. F., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2016). Expression of prokineticin 2 and its receptor in the macaque monkey brain. *Chronobiol Int* 33, 191–199. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2015.1125361.
- **81.** Mohsen, Z., Sim, H., Garcia-Galiano, D., Han, X., Bellefontaine, N., Saunders, T. L., et al. (2017). Sexually dimorphic distribution of Prokr2 neurons revealed by the Prokr2-Cre mouse model. *Brain Struct Funct*. doi: 10.1007/s00429-017-1456-5.
- 82. Soga, T., Matsumoto, S., Oda, T., Saito, T., Hiyama, H., Takasaki, J., et al. (2002). Molecular cloning and characterization of prokineticin receptors. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Structure and Expression* 1579, 173–179. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4781(02)00546-8.
- **83.** Puverel, S., Nakatani, H., Parras, C., and Soussi-Yanicostas, N. (2009). Prokineticin receptor 2 expression identifies migrating neuroblasts and their subventricular zone transient-amplifying progenitors in adult mice. *J Comp Neurol* 512, 232–42. doi: 10.1002/cne.21888.
- 84. Dodé, C., Teixeira, L., Levilliers, J., Fouveaut, C., Bouchard, P., Kottler, M.-L., et al. (2006). Kallmann syndrome: mutations in the genes encoding prokineticin-2 and prokineticin receptor-2. *PLoS Genet* 2, e175. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020175.
- 85. Abreu, A. P., Trarbach, E. B., de Castro, M., Frade Costa, E. M., Versiani, B., Matias Baptista, M. T., et al. (2008). Loss-of-Function Mutations in the Genes Encoding Prokineticin-2 or Prokineticin Receptor-2 Cause Autosomal Recessive Kallmann Syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, 4113–4118. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0958.

- **86.** Leroy, C., Fouveaut, C., Leclercq, S., Jacquemont, S., Boullay, H. Du, Lespinasse, J., et al. (2008). Biallelic mutations in the prokineticin-2 gene in two sporadic cases of Kallmann syndrome. *Eur J Hum Genet* 16, 865–8. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.15.
- **87.** Avbelj Stefanija, M., Jeanpierre, M., Sykiotis, G. P., Young, J., Quinton, R., Abreu, A. P., et al. (2012). An ancient founder mutation in PROKR2 impairs human reproduction. *Hum Mol Genet* 21, 4314–4324. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds264.
- 88. Gach, A., Pinkier, I., Sałacińska, K., Szarras-Czapnik, M., Salachna, D., Kucińska, A., et al. (2020). Identification of gene variants in a cohort of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism: Diagnostic utility of custom NGS panel and WES in unravelling genetic complexity of the disease. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 517, 110968. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2020.110968.
- **89.** Zhang, Q., He, H.-H., Janjua, M. U., Wang, F., Yang, Y.-B., Mo, Z.-H., et al. (2020). Identification of two novel mutations in three Chinese families with Kallmann syndrome using whole exome sequencing. *Andrologia* 52, e13594. doi: 10.1111/and.13594.
- 90. Mkaouar, R., Abdallah, L. C. Ben, Naouali, C., Lahbib, S., Turki, Z., Elouej, S., et al. (2021). Oligogenic Inheritance Underlying Incomplete Penetrance of PROKR2 Mutations in Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism. *Front Genet* 12, 665174. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.665174.
- **91.** Yuan, H., Deng, S., Gao, W., Li, H., and Yuan, M. (2021). Identification of MMACHC and PROKR2 mutations causing coexistent cobalamin C disease and Kallmann syndrome in a young woman. *Metab Brain Dis* 36, 447–452. doi: 10.1007/s11011-020-00654-8.
- **92.** Sugisawa, C., Taniyama, M., Sato, T., Takahashi, Y., Hasegawa, T., and Narumi, S. (2022). Biallelic PROKR2 variants and congenital hypogonadotropic hypogonadism: a case report and a literature review. *Endocr J* 69, EJ21-0779. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ21-0779.
- 93. Cole, L. W., Sidis, Y., Zhang, C., Quinton, R., Plummer, L., Pignatelli, D., et al. (2008). Mutations in Prokineticin 2 and Prokineticin receptor 2 genes in Human Gonadotrophin-Releasing Hormone Deficiency: Molecular Genetics and Clinical Spectrum. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, 3551–3559. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2654.
- **94.** Hill, J. W., and Elias, C. F. (2018). Neuroanatomical Framework of the Metabolic Control of Reproduction. *Physiol Rev* 98, 2349–2380. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00033.2017.
- **95.** Li, J.-D., Hu, W.-P., Boehmer, L., Cheng, M. Y., Lee, A. G., Jilek, A., et al. (2006). Attenuated Circadian Rhythms in Mice Lacking the Prokineticin 2 Gene. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 26, 11615–11623. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3679-06.2006.
- **96.** Li, X., Zhang, C., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2018). Overexpression of Prokineticin 2 in Transgenic Mice Leads to Reduced Circadian Behavioral Rhythmicity and Altered Molecular Rhythms in the Suprachiasmatic Clock. *J Circadian Rhythms* 16. doi: 10.5334/jcr.170.

- **97.** Zhang, C., Truong, K. K., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2009). Efferent Projections of Prokineticin 2 Expressing Neurons in the Mouse Suprachiasmatic Nucleus. *PLoS One* 4, e7151. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007151.
- **98.** Cisneros-Larios, B., and Elias, C. F. (2023). Sex differences in the coexpression of prokineticin receptor 2 and gonadal steroids receptors in mice. *Front. Neuroanat.* 16. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2022.1057727.

Chapter 2 Sex Differences in the Coexpression of Prokineticin Receptor 2 and Gonadal Steroids Receptors in Mice

2.1 Abstract

Loss-of-function mutations in prokineticin 2 (PROK2) and the cognate receptor prokineticin receptor 2 (PROKR2) genes have been implicated in reproductive deficits characteristic of Kallmann Syndrome (KS). Knock out of Prokr2 gene produces the KS-like phenotype in mice resulting in impaired migration of gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons, olfactory bulb dysgenesis and infertility. Beyond a developmental role, pharmacological and genetic studies have implicated PROKR2 in the control of estrous cycle in mice. However, PROKR2 is expressed in several reproductive control sites but the brain nuclei associated with reproductive control in adult mice have not been defined. We set out to determine if ProkR2 neurons in both male and female mouse brains directly sense changes in gonadal steroids milieu. We focused on estrogen receptor α (ER α) and androgen receptor (AR) due to their well-described function in reproductive control via actions in the brain. We found that the ProkR2-Cre neurons in the posterior nucleus of the amygdala has the highest colocalization with ER α and AR in a sexspecific manner. Few colocalization was found in the lateral septum and in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, and virtually no colocalization was observed in the medial amygdala. Our findings indicate that the posterior nucleus of the amygdala is the main site where PROKR2 neurons may regulate aspects of the reproductive function and social behavior in adult mice.

2.2 Introduction

A spectrum of reproductive deficits and anosmia, or loss of smell, are characteristics of patients diagnosed with Kallmann Syndrome (KS). Complex genetic studies in humans as well as data from mouse models have identified several genes associated with this clinical condition [1]. Among them, a series of distinct mutations in the prokineticin receptor 2 (*PROKR2*) gene have been identified in KS patients [2-4]. *Prokr2* knockout mice reproduce the phenotype of patients with KS, as they show severe defects in olfactory bulb development, a significant decrease in numbers of gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons in the medial septum-preoptic area, and a decrease in GnRH fibers in the median eminence [5-6]

While the loss of function mutation in both *Prokr2* alleles results in impaired GnRH neuronal migration, *Prokr2*-null heterozygous mice show regular number of GnRH neurons within the hypothalamus suggesting normal migration. Interestingly, these mice exhibit disrupted estrous cycle indicating that, despite normal GnRH migration, the reproductive function is compromised [7]. However, the brain sites associated with the role of PROKR2 neurons in adult reproduction is not known.

Initial studies in male mice have shown that *Prokr2* mRNA is expressed in several reproductive control sites, including the lateral septum, preoptic area, and arcuate nucleus, and strong expression in the medial nucleus of the amygdala [8]. Neurons of the lateral septum, preoptic area and medial amygdala integrate olfactory stimuli and mediate the appropriate reproductive endocrine and behavioral responses [9-11].

With the aim of increasing the experimental tools to assess the role of PROKR2 in adult reproduction, we developed a mouse model expressing Cre recombinase driven by the *Prokr2* promoter [12]. Using the ProkR2-Cre reporter mouse, we reproduced the previous findings in males and expanded the data in females [12]. These findings outlined the distribution of neuronal *Prokr2* and putative roles in reproductive physiology and sexual behavior guided by prokineticin actions in the brain. Although the expression profile of *Prokr2* in male and female brains have been characterized, it is not clear if subpopulations of neurons sense changing levels of circulating gonadal steroids required for estrous cycle and social behavior.

Therefore, to begin assessing potential brain sites where PROKR2 cells influence the reproductive axis, we performed a systematic evaluation of the coexpression of estrogen receptor- α (ER α) and androgen receptor (AR) with ProkR2-Cre neurons in male and female brains using the ProkR2-Cre mouse model [12]. We focused on ER α and AR due to their well-described role in adult reproduction in both sexes [13-26].

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Animals

Adult (2-5 months old) male and female B6;SJL-*Prokr2*^{em1(cre)Cfe} (ProkR2-Cre mice) were used for all experiments (JAX[®] stock #043846-JAX, [12]). The ProkR2-Cre mice were crossed with Cre-dependent, eGFP-L10a mice kindly provided by Dr. David Olson at the University of Michigan and commercially available (JAX[®] stock # 024750, [27]). All mice were heterozygous for the ProkR2-Cre allele with one or two copies of the eGFP-L10a allele. Mice were maintained in a light- (12L:12D) and temperature- (21-23°C) controlled environment at the University of Michigan Animal Facility (ULAM). Animals had free access to water and a phytoestrogen-reduced Envigo diet 2016 (16% protein/4% fat). A phytoestrogen-reduced diet was used to minimize effects of exogenous estrogen in the expression of gonadal steroids receptors [28-31]. All procedures and experiments were done in accordance with guidelines established by the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the University of Michigan (protocol # PRO00010420).

All mice were genotyped as outlined in Mohsen et al., 2017 and Krashes et al., 2014 [12, 27].

2.3.2 Perfusion and brain histology

Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane (Fluriso; Vet One) and transcardially perfused with 0.1M PBS followed by 10% neutral buffered formalin. All perfusions were done between 12:00 to 2:00PM (corresponding to ZT6 and ZT8). Following perfusion, brains were collected and postfixed in 20% sucrose-10% formalin for 2 h. Brains were cryoprotected in 20% sucrose-PBS and sectioned in freezing microtome (Leica). Four series of 25-µm thick coronal sections were collected and stored at -20°C in cryoprotectant.

2.3.3 Dual label immunoperoxidase

Sections were washed with 0.1M PBS to remove cryoprotectant and incubated in 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) in Triton-PBS (0.25%) for 30 min. Sections were then washed in 0.1M PBS and were incubated in primary antibody. The following antibodies and concentrations were used: rabbit anti-estrogen receptor- α (ER α) primary antibody (1:20,000, Millipore Cat# 06-935, RRID: AB 310305) and rabbit anti-androgen receptor (AR) antibody (1:400, Abcam Cat# ab133273, RRID: AB 11156085). All primary incubation were prepared with 3% donkey serum in Triton X100-0.1M PBS (0.25%) and tissues were incubated overnight at room temperature. The following day, sections were washed in 0.1M PBS and incubated in secondary biotinconjugated donkey anti-rabbit antibody for 1 h (1:1,000, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories), washed again in 0.1M PBS and incubated in Avidin-Biotin Complex (ABC) in 0.1M PBS (1:500, Vector Labs) for 1 h. The peroxidase reaction was performed using 0.05% 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB, Sigma) and 0.05% nickel ammonium sulfate (Nickel, Sigma) as chromogens and 0.01% hydrogen peroxidase. Following 0.1M PBS washes and another 30 min 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) incubation, sections were incubated in chicken anti-GFP primary antibody (1:20,000, AvesLabs, catalog #GFP-1010; RRID: AB 2307313) with 3% donkey serum in Triton-0.1M PBS (0.25%). The following day, the same steps previously described were followed except that a secondary biotin-conjugated donkey anti-chicken antibody (1:1,000, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) was used and Nickel was omitted from the DAB solution. Sections were mounted on gelatin coated slides, dehydrated, delipidated in xylenes for 15 min and coverslipped with DPX (EMS, Hatfield, PA).

Series of brain sections were counterstained with thionin for anatomical references. Slides were dipped in 0.25% thionin for 1 min, dehydrated, delipidated in xylenes for 15 min and coverslipped with DPX (EMS, Hatfield, PA).

2.3.4 Imaging and data analysis

Brain regions were evaluated using the digital Allen Mouse Brain atlas and sites showing colocalization of AR or ER α with ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a positive cells were identified. Quantification of dual labeled neurons was performed using ImageJ cell counter plug-in and Graphpad was used for data analysis. Only cells showing clear nuclear staining were deemed as dual labeled. Subjective analysis comparing dual labeled neurons based on relative expression (e.g., no dual labeled neurons visualized= - ; highest dual labeled neurons visualized=+++) was performed by two independent evaluators. To determine potential sex differences in number of neurons in the PA, we quantified the most posterior level of the PA (where we see highest colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR or ER α) using thionin staining. Only one section and one side of the amygdala was quantified/mice. All blue neurons and dark brown (blue + eGFP labeled) were quantified. Microphotographs were acquired using the upright microscope Zeiss Axio Imager M2 and a digital camera (Axiocam, Zeiss) using the Zen software. Images were organized in figures using Adobe Photoshop. Brightness, sharpness and contrast were adjusted for image presentation.

2.3.5 Statistics

Analysis was performed using Prism, version 9 (GraphPad Software Inc). Data are reported as the mean \pm SEM. Normal distribution of data was determined using a Shapiro-Wilk test

(significance alpha 0.05). An unpaired *t* test with Welch's correction was used to analyze data. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data are reported as the mean \pm SEM.

2.4 Results

We performed a systematic evaluation of the ProkR2-Cre L10 eGFP neurons that co-express AR or ER α in male and female brains (Table 1, n=5 males for AR and ER α , n=3 females for AR and n=6 females for ER α). Because levels of estradiol may alter *Esr1* expression in opposite ways in different nuclei, we used cycling females (undefined estrous cycle stage) to avoid the effect of excess (E2 treatment) or lack (ovariectomy) of estradiol in specific nuclei [32]. We focused our analysis on the forebrain where virtually all reproductive control sites are located.

2.4.1 Distribution of AR and ER α in ProkR2-Cre eGFP neurons of male mice.

The analysis of colocalization of AR or ER α with ProkR2-Cre eGFP was focused on forebrain nuclei previously described to express *Prokr2* mRNA and the reporter gene [8,12]. The lateral septum and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis had minimal colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR (Fig. 2.1, A-D). Virtually no colocalization of Prokr2 GFP with AR was found in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (Table 1). We also found minimal colocalization in the medial preoptic nucleus (Fig. 2.1, E-F), paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (Table 1), arcuate nucleus (Fig. 2.1, G-H) and ventral premammillary nucleus (Table 1). No colocation of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR was observed in the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus (Fig. 2.1, I-J). In the amygdala, virtually no colocalization was observed in the posterodorsal subdivision of the medial nucleus (Fig. 2.1, K-L). However, high numbers of ProkR2-Cre eGFP immunoreactive

cells of the posterior amygdala (PA, a.k.a., amygdalohypothalamic area or AHi) coexpress AR (Table 1 and Table 2).

Similarly, virtually no colocalization between ProkR2-Cre eGFP and ERα was found in the lateral septum, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, medial preoptic area, arcuate nucleus, ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, and posterodorsal subdivision of the medial amygdala (Fig. 2.2, A-L). Moderate colocalization with ProkR2-Cre eGFP was also observed in the PA (Table 1 and Table 2).

2.4.2 Distribution of AR and ER α in ProkR2-Cre eGFP neurons of female mice.

Female brains showed a comparable coexpression pattern to male brains. The lateral septum had minimal colocalization between ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR, while sporadic colocalization was observed in the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (Fig. 2.3. A-D). No colocalization between ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR was found in the suprachiasmatic nucleus, and minimal colocalization was observed in the medial preoptic nucleus, paraventricular hypothalamus, and arcuate nucleus (Fig. 2.3. E-H, Table 1). Very few ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells colocalize AR in the ventromedial hypothalamus (Fig. 2.3, I-J). We found virtually no colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR in the posterodorsal subdivision of the medial medial amygdala (Fig. 2.3., K-L). Small coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR was observed in female PA (Table 1 and Table 2).

Colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP with ER α was briefly reported by our lab [12]. In a more comprehensive analysis, in this study we reproduced our initial findings and found no colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and ER α in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and

arcuate nucleus (Table 1), and very low colocalization in the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus (Table 1). In addition, we found very low colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and ER α in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (Table 1). Higher colocalization was observed in the PA (Table 1 and Table 2).

Table 2.1: Subjective analysis of the coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) or estrogen receptor α (ER α) immunoreactivity in male and female brains. Only Notations -, +/-, +, and +++ represent absent, very low, low, and high colocalization. The Allen Mouse Brain atlas was used as a reference for brain nuclei and localization (atlas image).

Brain areas and nuclei	Atlas	Male		Female	
	Image	AR	ERα	AR	ERα
Lateral septal nucleus, rostral (LSr)	53	+	-	+	+/-
Medial preoptic nucleus (MPN)	55	+	-	+/-	+/-
Bed nucleus of stria terminalis, posterior (BSTp)	56	+/-	-	+/-	+/-
Suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCH)	59	-	-	+/-	-
Paraventricular nucleus of hypothalamus (PVH)	61	+	+/-	+/-	+
Arcuate nucleus (ARH)	69	-	-	+/-	+/-
Medial nucleus of the amygdala, posterodorsal	70	-	-	-	-
(MEApd)					
Ventromedial nucleus, ventrolateral (VMHvl)	70	-	-	+	+
Ventral premammillary nucleus (PMv)	76	-	-	+/-	-
Posterior nucleus of the amygdala (PA)	80	+++	+++	+	+++

2.4.3 Colocalization of ProkrR2-Cre eGFP with AR or with ER α in the posterior nucleus of the amygdala (PA) shows sex differences.

The PA is the forebrain site with highest colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and AR or ER α . Because in previous studies we found sex differences in ProkR2-Cre eGFP expression [12], we performed a careful quantification of colocalization to compare the findings between sexes (Table 2).

In males, about $24.7 \pm 6.8\%$ of ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells expressed AR (Fig. 2.4, A-B, Table 2), whereas $70.6 \pm 7.5\%$ of AR cells were ProkR2-Cre eGFP positive. In contrast, female brains had much lower colocalization (Fig. 2.4, C-D, Table 2). About $4.5 \pm 1.8\%$ of ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells expressed AR and $22.3 \pm 4.3\%$ of AR cells coexpressed ProkR2-Cre GFP.

Similar coexpression between ProkR2-Cre eGFP and ER α was observed in males and females PA (Fig. 2.4 E-H, Table 2). About 21.8 ±2.6% of ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells in males coexpressed ER α while 23 ± 2.5% of ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells in females coexpressed ER α . Of note, about 70% of ER α in males where ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells, while about 50% of ER α -ir neurons coexpress ProkR2-Cre eGFP in the female PA (Table 2).

To assess if the PA of males and females shows different number of neurons, we quantified total number of cells using thionin staining at the level colocalizations were reported (Allen Brain Atlas, level 80, N=3, male and female). No differences were observed. We found that males had on average 463.67 ± 11.7 cells and females 491.33 ± 45.41 in the PA (P > 0.05, Fig. 2.5, A-D).

Table 2.2: Quantification of cells coexpressing ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) or estrogen receptor α (ER α) immunoreactivity in the posterior nucleus of the amygdala of male and female mouse brains.

			% Dual labeled	% Dual labeled/
AR	Total GFP-ir	Total AR-ir	/Total GFP-ir	Total AR-ir
Male	323.4 ± 17.57	111 ± 32.88	$24.7\pm6.8\%$	$70.6\pm7.5\%$
Female	176 ± 23.29	33.33 ± 11.62	$4.5 \pm 1.8\%$	$22.3\pm4.3\%$
FRa	Total CFP-ir	Total FRa-ir	% Dual labeled	% Dual labeled/
ERα	Total GFP-ir	Total ERα-ir	% Dual labeled /Total GFP-ir	% Dual labeled/ Total ERα-ir
ERα Male	Total GFP-ir 333.2 ± 28.5	Total ERα-ir 100.2 ± 10.39	% Dual labeled /Total GFP-ir 21.8 ± 2.6%	 % Dual labeled/ Total ERα-ir 71.8 ± 5.5%

2.5 Discussion

In the present study, we performed a systematic evaluation of the colocalization of ProkR2-Cre eGFP with AR or ER α immunoreactivity in the forebrain of male and female mice. Previous work from our and other laboratories have characterized the expression of AR in rodents [17-18,33-36]. AR is highly expressed in the lateral septum, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, medial and posterior nucleus of the amygdala, and several nuclei of the hypothalamus, including the medial preoptic, the suprachiasmatic, the paraventricular, the arcuate and the ventral premammillary nucleus AR expression in the female brain is observed in nearly the same sites as male brains, albeit in much lower density [35,37]. ER α expression has been previously described to be dense in the lateral septum, bed nucleus of the stria terminals, the medial preoptic nucleus, the arcuate nucleus, the medial amygdala, and the posterior nucleus of the amygdala among

several other hypothalamic nuclei of both sexes [18, 33,37-40. Interestingly, most of the sites expressing these sex steroid receptors are also sites that express *Prokr2* [8,12].

Having verified that our immunohistochemistry is consisted with previous reports, we found that out of all forebrain sites expressing ProkR2-Cre, the highest colocalization with AR and ER α was observed in the PA of both sexes. We found, however, a clear sex difference with males showing high rates of ProkR2-Cre eGFP neurons coexpressing AR or ER α . These findings place the PA as the main site by which the *Prokr2* neuronal circuit sense and may respond to changes in circulating levels of gonadal steroids potentially modulating reproductive physiology and/or sex and social behaviors. To date, studies investigating the relevance of PROKR2 in reproductive physiology and behaviors have been scarce. The *Prokr2* homozygous null mice exhibited deficits in GnRH neuronal migration and reproductive organs development. The heterozygous null mice, however, were not different from wildtype littermates [6]. The fertility of the *Prokr2* null heterozygous mice was not assessed, given the normal migration of GnRH neurons and no behavioral assays were performed in neither female nor male mice. Those heterozygous null mice however exhibited irregular estrous cycles, but the *Prokr2* neural circuitry associated with this observation remains unknown.

The PA is an understudied site as limited publications have focused on the circuitry, chemical phenotype, and functionality of its neurons. Most of the literature on amygdala's role in sex and social behaviors has focused on the subdivisions of the medial amygdala. Extensive literature looking at the effects of lesion of the medial amygdala, the projections to and from the medial amygdala, have shown that it plays a critical role in sexual behaviors and aggression, mating and

associated behaviors, and it is critical in processing olfactory cues [10, 22,41-51. Few studies have also suggested that the PA is associated with chemosensory pathways related to reproductive behaviors. For instance, studies in Syrian hamsters described that the PA expresses Fos-immunoreactivity, a marker of neuronal activation, in both mating and agonistic behaviors [52-53].

Using retrograde and anterograde tracers in rats, studies revealed that innervation of the PA comes from areas associated with processing odor inputs from the vomeronasal system, such as the posterodorsal subdivision of medial amygdala [54]. The PA also innervates areas such as the lateral septum, and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis [54]. These findings suggested that the PA is relevant for social behaviors and, together with the medial amygdala, comprises the "olfactory amygdala" [43, 54-55].

The murine PA expresses a dense collection of gonadal steroids receptor [18, 33,35-39]. Specifically, the PA neurons express AR and ER α , and about half of steroid receptor containing neurons expresses both [18]. In rats, the sites innervated by the PA are also dense in gonadal steroids receptors further implicating this nucleus in neural circuitry sensing circulating gonadal steroids [33, 56].

We showed previously that a higher number of *Prokr2* and ProkR2-Cre eGFP expressing cells is observed in the PA of males [12]. This finding invited speculation on the potential role of PA PROKR2 neurons in both sexes. That ProkR2-Cre eGFP cells of the PA of male and female mice

coexpress gonadal steroid receptors further emphasize a reproductive relevant role for these neurons. Sex differences and the role of gonadal steroids receptors in a specific subpopulation of PA PROKR2 expressing cells need further investigation.

Expression of the ligand, prokineticin 2, has been characterized in mice and in the macaque monkey brain [8, 57]. Expression patterns were similar in both species. The areas known to highly express prokineticin 2 relevant to reproduction are the olfactory bulb, the medial amygdala, the medial preoptic area, the arcuate nucleus, and the suprachiasmatic nucleus [8]. Whether prokineticin 2 neurons in these or alternative brain sites project to PA is not known. Additional studies are needed to inform which prokineticin 2 expressing sites innervate the PA.

Use of genetic manipulations of PA neurons including remote control (i.e., opto or chemogenetic) is very limited but in recent years, a study in male mice showed that a subpopulation of these neurons coexpresses vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (Vglut1). The PA Vglut1 neurons project to the ventrolateral subdivision of the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus and induce aggression when activated [58]. Another study identified two subpopulations of ER α PA neurons, one that projects to the medial preoptic nucleus and another that projects to the ventromedial hypothalamus [59]. The first was activated during mating and was necessary and sufficient for sexual behaviors in males and the second was activated during intermale aggression [59]. Collectively, these studies indicate that aggression and mating behavior are controlled by a subset of ER α PA cells. In both studies, it is likely that PROKR2 expressing cells were also activated, given that *Prokr2* gene is enriched in the PA and that a

subpopulation of PROKR2 PA neurons express ERα. [12, 59]. Projection profiles and remote control of PROKR2 expressing cells need further investigation to define the contribution of PROKR2 expressing cells to these behaviors. In addition, the role of AR in PA PROKR2 expressing cells of males and females are unknown.

The relevance of PROKR2 system in the development of the reproductive axis, has been described in both in humans and mouse models [1,5]. While this study does not assess the function of PROKR2 within the PA, it begins to unravel the components required for a role in sexual and/or social behavior, i.e., the potential to sense changes in circulating gonadal steroids in conspecific opposite sex mates. Further studies aiming at defining the associated neural circuitry and specific action of PROKR2/AR and/or PROKR2/ER α in reproductive function in both sexes are warranted.

2.6 References

- Hardelin, J. P., and Dodé, C. (2008). The complex genetics of Kallmann syndrome: KAL1, FGFR1, FGF8, PROKR2, PROK2, et al. *Sexual Development* 2, 181–193. doi: 10.1159/000152034.
- Abreu, A. P., Trarbach, E. B., de Castro, M., Frade Costa, E. M., Versiani, B., Matias Baptista, M. T., et al. (2008). Loss-of-Function Mutations in the Genes Encoding Prokineticin-2 or Prokineticin Receptor-2 Cause Autosomal Recessive Kallmann Syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, 4113–4118. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0958.
- **3.** Martin, C., Balasubramanian, R., Dwyer, A. A., Au, M. G., Sidis, Y., Kaiser, U. B., et al. (2011). The Role of the Prokineticin 2 Pathway in Human Reproduction: Evidence from the Study of Human and Murine Gene Mutations. *Endocr Rev* 32, 225–246. doi: 10.1210/er.2010-0007.
- **4.** Avbelj Stefanija, M., Jeanpierre, M., Sykiotis, G. P., Young, J., Quinton, R., Abreu, A. P., et al. (2012). An ancient founder mutation in PROKR2 impairs human reproduction. *Hum Mol Genet* 21, 4314–4324. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds264.
- 5. Ng, K. L. (2005). Dependence of Olfactory Bulb Neurogenesis on Prokineticin 2 Signaling. *Science (1979)* 308, 1923–1927. doi: 10.1126/science.1112103.
- 6. Matsumoto, S. -i., Yamazaki, C., Masumoto, K. -h., Nagano, M., Naito, M., Soga, T., et al. (2006). Abnormal development of the olfactory bulb and reproductive system in mice lacking prokineticin receptor PKR2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 4140–4145. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508881103.
- Xiao, L., Zhang, C., Li, X., Gong, S., Hu, R., Balasubramanian, R., et al. (2014). Signaling Role of Prokineticin 2 on the Estrous Cycle of Female Mice. *PLoS One* 9, e90860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090860.
- 8. Cheng, M. Y., Leslie, F. M., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2006). Expression of prokineticins and their receptors in the adult mouse brain. *J Comp Neurol* 498, 796–809. doi: 10.1002/cne.21087.
- Baum, M. J., Tobet, S. A., Starr, M. S., and Bradshaw, W. G. (1982). Implantation of dihydrotestosterone propionate into the lateral septum or medial amygdala facilitates copulation in castrated male rats given estradiol systemically. *Horm Behav* 16, 208–223. doi: 10.1016/0018-506X(82)90020-4.
- DiBenedictis, B. T., Ingraham, K. L., Baum, M. J., and Cherry, J. A. (2012). Disruption of urinary odor preference and lordosis behavior in female mice given lesions of the medial amygdala. *Physiol Behav* 105, 554–9. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.014.

- **11.** Baum, M. J., and Cherry, J. A. (2015). Processing by the main olfactory system of chemosignals that facilitate mammalian reproduction. *Horm Behav* 68, 53–64. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2014.06.003.
- Mohsen, Z., Sim, H., Garcia-Galiano, D., Han, X., Bellefontaine, N., Saunders, T. L., et al. (2017). Sexually dimorphic distribution of Prokr2 neurons revealed by the Prokr2-Cre mouse model. *Brain Struct Funct*. doi: 10.1007/s00429-017-1456-5.
- **13.** Lisk, R. D., and Bezier, J. L. (1980). Intrahypothalamic Hormone Implantation and Activation of Sexual Behavior in the Male Hamster. *Neuroendocrinology* 30, 220–227. doi: 10.1159/000123004.
- 14. Rasia-Filho, A. A., Peres, T. M., Cubilla-Gutierrez, F. H., and Lucion, A. B. (1991). Effect of estradiol implanted in the corticomedial amygdala on the sexual behavior of castrated male rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 24, 1041–9. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1797257.
- **15.** Wood, R. I., Brabec, R. K., Swann, J. M., and Newman, S. W. (1992). Androgen and estrogen concentrating neurons in chemosensory pathways of the male Syrian hamster brain. *Brain Res* 596, 89–98. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)91536-N.
- 16. Lubahn, D. B., Moyer, J. S., Golding, T. S., Couse, J. F., Korach, K. S., and Smithies, O. (1993). Alteration of reproductive function but not prenatal sexual development after insertional disruption of the mouse estrogen receptor gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 11162–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.23.11162.
- Wood, R. I., and Newman, S. W. (1993). Mating activates androgen receptor-containing neurons in chemosensory pathways of the male Syrian hamster brain. *Brain Res* 614, 65–77. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)91019-O.
- Wood, R. I., and Newman, S. W. (1995a). Androgen and Estrogen Receptors Coexist within Individual Neurons in the Brain of the Syrian Hamster. *Neuroendocrinology* 62, 487–497. doi: 10.1159/000127039.
- **19.** Wood, R. I., and Newman, S. W. (1995b). The Medial Amygdaloid Nucleus and Medial Preoptic Area Mediate Steroidal Control of Sexual Behavior in the Male Syrian Hamster. *Horm Behav* 29, 338–353. doi: 10.1006/hbeh.1995.1024.
- 20. Eddy, E. M., Washburn, T. F., Bunch, D. O., Goulding, E. H., Gladen, B. C., Lubahn, D. B., et al. (1996). Targeted disruption of the estrogen receptor gene in male mice causes alteration of spermatogenesis and infertility. *Endocrinology* 137, 4796–805. doi: 10.1210/endo.137.11.8895349.
- **21.** Wood, R. (1996). Estradiol, but not dihydrotestosterone, in the medial amygdala facilitates male hamster sex behavior. *Physiol Behav* 59, 833–841. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(95)02204-X.

- **22.** Wood, R. I., and Coolen, L. M. (1997). Integration of chemosensory and hormonal cues is essential for sexual behaviour in the male Syrian hamster: role of the medial amygdaloid nucleus. *Neuroscience* 78, 1027–35. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9174071.
- **23.** Yeh, S., Tsai, M.-Y., Xu, Q., Mu, X.-M., Lardy, H., Huang, K.-E., et al. (2002). Generation and characterization of androgen receptor knockout (ARKO) mice: An in vivo model for the study of androgen functions in selective tissues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 99, 13498–13503. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212474399.
- **24.** Sato, T., Matsumoto, T., Kawano, H., Watanabe, T., Uematsu, Y., Sekine, K., et al. (2004). Brain masculinization requires androgen receptor function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101, 1673–1678. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0305303101.
- **25.** Juntti, S. A., Tollkuhn, J., Wu, M. v., Fraser, E. J., Soderborg, T., Tan, S., et al. (2010). The Androgen Receptor Governs the Execution, but Not Programming, of Male Sexual and Territorial Behaviors. *Neuron* 66, 260–272. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.03.024.
- 26. Wang, L., Burger, L. L., Greenwald-Yarnell, M. L., Myers, M. G., and Moenter, S. M. (2018). Glutamatergic Transmission to Hypothalamic Kisspeptin Neurons Is Differentially Regulated by Estradiol through Estrogen Receptor α in Adult Female Mice. *J Neurosci* 38, 1061–1072. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2428-17.2017.
- 27. Krashes, M. J., Shah, B. P., Madara, J. C., Olson, D. P., Strochlic, D. E., Garfield, A. S., et al. (2014). An excitatory paraventricular nucleus to AgRP neuron circuit that drives hunger. *Nature* 507, 238. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature12956.
- 28. Boettger-Tong, H., Murthy, L., Chiappetta, C., Kirkland, J. L., Goodwin, B., Adlercreutz, H., et al. (1998). A case of a laboratory animal feed with high estrogenic activity and its impact on in vivo responses to exogenously administered estrogens. *Environ Health Perspect* 106, 369–73. doi: 10.1289/ehp.98106369.
- **29.** Brown, N. M., and Setchell, K. D. (2001). Animal models impacted by phytoestrogens in commercial chow: implications for pathways influenced by hormones. *Lab Invest* 81, 735–47. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780282.
- **30.** Thigpen, J. E., Setchell, K. D. R., Saunders, H. E., Haseman, J. K., Grant, M. G., and Forsythe, D. B. (2004). Selecting the Appropriate Rodent Diet for Endocrine Disruptor Research and Testing Studies. *ILAR J* 45, 401–416. doi: 10.1093/ilar.45.4.401.
- **31.** Dinsdale, E. C., and Ward, W. E. (2010). Early exposure to soy isoflavones and effects on reproductive health: a review of human and animal studies. *Nutrients* 2, 1156–87. doi: 10.3390/nu2111156.

- **32.** Liu, X., and Shi, H. (2015). Regulation of Estrogen Receptor α Expression in the Hypothalamus by Sex Steroids: Implication in the Regulation of Energy Homeostasis. *Int J Endocrinol* 2015, 949085. doi: 10.1155/2015/949085.
- **33.** Simerly, R. B., Swanson, L. W., Chang, C., and Muramatsu, M. (1990). Distribution of androgen and estrogen receptor mRNA-containing cells in the rat brain: An in situ hybridization study. *J Comp Neurol* 294, 76–95. doi: 10.1002/cne.902940107.
- 34. Lu, S., McKenna, S. E., Cologer-Clifford, A., Nau, E. A., and Simon, N. G. (1998). Androgen Receptor in Mouse Brain: Sex Differences and Similarities in Autoregulation 1. *Endocrinology* 139, 1594–1601. doi: 10.1210/endo.139.4.5863.
- **35.** Jahan, M. R., Kokubu, K., Islam, Md. N., Matsuo, C., Yanai, A., Wroblewski, G., et al. (2015). Species differences in androgen receptor expression in the medial preoptic and anterior hypothalamic areas of adult male and female rodents. *Neuroscience* 284, 943–961. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.11.003.
- **36.** Cara, A. L., Henson, E. L., Beekly, B. G., and Elias, C. F. (2021). Distribution of androgen receptor mRNA in the prepubertal male and female mouse brain. *J Neuroendocrinol* 33. doi: 10.1111/jne.13063.
- 37. Brock, O., de Mees, C., and Bakker, J. (2015). Hypothalamic Expression of Oestrogen Receptor α and Androgen Receptor is Sex-, Age- and Region-Dependent in Mice. J Neuroendocrinol 27, 264–276. doi: 10.1111/jne.12258.
- **38.** Österlund, M., G.J.M. Kuiper, G., Gustafsson, J.-Å., and Hurd, Y. L. (1998). Differential distribution and regulation of estrogen receptor-α and -β mRNA within the female rat brain. *Molecular Brain Research* 54, 175–180. doi: 10.1016/S0169-328X(97)00351-3.
- **39.** Merchenthaler, I., Lane, M. v., Numan, S., and Dellovade, T. L. (2004). Distribution of estrogen receptor alpha and beta in the mouse central nervous system: In vivo autoradiographic and immunocytochemical analyses. *J Comp Neurol* 473, 270–291. doi: 10.1002/cne.20128.
- **40.** Cao, J., and Patisaul, H. B. (2013). Sex-specific expression of estrogen receptors α and β and Kiss1 in the postnatal rat amygdala. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 521, 465–478. doi: 10.1002/cne.23185.
- **41.** Kamel, F., Wright, W. W., Mock, E. J., and Frankel, A. I. (1977). The influence of mating and related stimuli on plasma levels of luteinizing hormone, follicle stimulating hormone, prolactin, and testosterone in the male rat. *Endocrinology* 101, 421–9. doi: 10.1210/endo-101-2-421.
- **42.** Beltramino, C., and Taleisnik, S. (1978). Facilitatory and inhibitory effects of electrochemical stimulation of the amygdala on the release of luteinizing hormone. *Brain Res* 144, 95–107. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/565243.

- **43.** Canteras, N. S., Simerly, R. B., and Swanson, L. W. (1995). Organization of projections from the medial nucleus of the amygdala: A PHAL study in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* 360, 213–245. doi: 10.1002/cne.903600203.
- **44.** Maras, P. M., and Petrulis, A. (2010). Anatomical connections between the anterior and posterodorsal sub-regions of the medial amygdala: integration of odor and hormone signals. *Neuroscience* 170, 610–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.06.075.
- **45.** Pardo-Bellver, C., Cádiz-Moretti, B., Novejarque, A., Martínez-García, F., and Lanuza, E. (2012). Differential efferent projections of the anterior, posteroventral, and posterodorsal subdivisions of the medial amygdala in mice. *Front Neuroanat* 6. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2012.00033.
- **46.** Bergan, J. F., Ben-Shaul, Y., and Dulac, C. (2014). Sex-specific processing of social cues in the medial amygdala. *Elife* 3. doi: 10.7554/eLife.02743.
- **47.** Hari Dass, S. A., and Vyas, A. (2014). Copulation or sensory cues from the female augment Fos expression in arginine vasopressin neurons of the posterodorsal medial amygdala of male rats. *Front Zool* 11, 42. doi: 10.1186/1742-9994-11-42.
- **48.** Keshavarzi, S., Sullivan, R. K. P., Ianno, D. J., and Sah, P. (2014). Functional Properties and Projections of Neurons in the Medial Amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 8699–8715. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1176-14.2014.
- **49.** Li, X. F., Hu, M. H., Hanley, B. P., Lin, Y. S., Poston, L., Lightman, S. L., et al. (2015). The Posterodorsal Medial Amygdala Regulates the Timing of Puberty Onset in Female Rats. *Endocrinology* 156, 3725–36. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1366.
- **50.** Li, Y., Mathis, A., Grewe, B. F., Osterhout, J. A., Ahanonu, B., Schnitzer, M. J., et al. (2017). Neuronal Representation of Social Information in the Medial Amygdala of Awake Behaving Mice. *Cell* 171, 1176-1190.e17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.015.
- 51. McCarthy, E. A., Maqsudlu, A., Bass, M., Georghiou, S., Cherry, J. A., and Baum, M. J. (2017). DREADD-induced silencing of the medial amygdala reduces the preference for male pheromones and the expression of lordosis in estrous female mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 46, 2035–2046. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13636.
- 52. Kollack, S. S., and Newman, S. W. (1992). Mating behavior induces selective expression of Fos protein within the chemosensory pathways of the male Syrian hamster brain. *Neurosci Lett* 143, 223–8. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1436670.
- **53.** Kollack-Walker, S., and Newman, S. W. (1995). Mating and agonistic behavior produce different patterns of Fos immunolabeling in the male Syrian hamster brain. *Neuroscience* 66, 721–36. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7644033.

- 54. Canteras, N. S., Simerly, R. B., and Swanson, L. W. (1992). Connections of the posterior nucleus of the amygdala. *J Comp Neurol* 324, 143–79. doi: 10.1002/cne.903240203.
- **55.** Swanson, L. W. (2006). The Amygdala and Its Place in the Cerebral Hemisphere. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 985, 174–184. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07081.x.
- **56.** Pfaff, D., and Keiner, M. (1973). Atlas of estradiol-concentrating cells in the central nervous system of the female rat. *J Comp Neurol* 151, 121–157. doi: 10.1002/cne.901510204.
- **57.** Burton, K. J., Li, X., Li, B., Cheng, M. Y., Urbanski, H. F., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2016). Expression of prokineticin 2 and its receptor in the macaque monkey brain. *Chronobiol Int* 33, 191–199. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2015.1125361.
- **58.** Zha, X., Wang, L., Jiao, Z.-L., Yang, R.-R., Xu, C., and Xu, X.-H. (2020). VMHvl-Projecting Vglut1+ Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Gate Territorial Aggression. *Cell Rep* 31, 107517. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.03.081.
- **59.** Yamaguchi, T., Wei, D., Song, S. C., Lim, B., Tritsch, N. X., and Lin, D. (2020). Posterior amygdala regulates sexual and aggressive behaviors in male mice. *Nat Neurosci* 23, 1111–1124. doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-0675-x.

2.7 Copyright

The work in this chapter was published in Cisneros-Larios, B., & Elias, C. F. (2023). Sex differences in the coexpression of prokineticin receptor 2 and gonadal steroids receptors in mice. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*, *16*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2022.1057727



Figure 2.1: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) in the forebrain of the male mouse. (A–L) Bright field micrographs showing the expression of AR (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the lateral septal nucleus, LS (A,B), the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, BST (C,D), the medial preoptic nucleus, MPN (E,F), the arcuate nucleus, ARH (G,H), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, ventrolateral subdivision, VMHvl (I,J), the medial nucleus of the nucleus, and posterodorsal subdivision, MEApd (K,L). Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle; opt, optic tract; 3 V, third ventricle. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G,I,K) = 200 μ m; (B,D,F,H,J,L) = 50 μ m.



Figure 2.2: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and estrogen receptor α (ER α) in the forebrain of the male mouse. (A–L) Bright field micrographs showing the expression of ER α (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the lateral septal nucleus, LS (A,B), the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, BST (C,D), the medial preoptic nucleus, MPN (E,F), the arcuate nucleus, ARH (G,H), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, ventrolateral subdivision, VMHvl (I,J) and the medial nucleus of the amygdala, posterodorsal subdivision, MEApd (K,L). Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle; opt, optic tract; 3 V, third ventricle. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G,I,K) = 200 µm; (B,D,F,H,J,L) = 50 µm.



Figure 2.3: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP and androgen receptor (AR) in the forebrain of the female mouse. (A–L) Bright field micrographs showing the expression of AR (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the lateral septal nucleus, LS (A,B), the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, BST (C,D), the medial preoptic nucleus, MPN (E,F), the arcuate nucleus, ARH (G,H), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, ventrolateral subdivision, VMHvl (I,J), and the medial nucleus of the amygdala, the posterodorsal subdivision, MEApd (K,L). Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle; opt, optic tract; 3 V, third ventricle. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G,I,K) = 200 μ m; (B,D,F,H,J,L) = 50 μ m.



Figure 2.4: Coexpression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP with AR and in ProkR2-Cre eGFP with estrogen receptor α (ER α) in the posterior nucleus of the amygdala (PA). Bright field micrographs showing the expression of AR (black) and GFP (brown) immunoreactivity in the male PA (A,B) and in the female PA (C,D). Bright field micrographs showing the expression of ER α (black) and GFP (brown) in the male PA (E,F) and in the female PA (G,H). Arrows in (B,D,F, and H) indicate dual labeled neurons. Scale Bars: (A,C,E,G) = 200 µm; (B,D,F,H) = 50 µm.



Figure 2.5: Cytoarchitecture and distribution of ProkR2-Cre eGFP neurons of the posterior amygdala (PA) of male and female brains. Brightfield micrographs showing expression of GFP (brown) and thionin positive cells (blue) in the male (A-C) and female PA (D-F). Abbreviations: CoA: Cortical amydala; CA3:field CA3 hippocampus Scale Bars: A-B, D-E = 200 μ m; C, F = 50 μ m.

Chapter 3 The Prokineticin Receptor 2 Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Densely Innervate Forebrain Sites Associated with Reproductive Neuroendocrine Function and Motivated Behaviors

3.1 Introduction

The *Prokr2/PROKR2* gene is involved in regulating reproduction in both mice and humans. The *Prokr2* gene codes for prokineticin receptor 2, a G-protein coupled receptor highly expressed in the brain [1-3]. Studies in humans have identified several mutations in this gene linked to the genetic disorder Kallmann syndrome [4-9]. Kallmann syndrome is characterized by abnormal function of the reproductive axis and impaired sense of smell or anosmia [10-13]. Studies in mice have determined that the abnormal development of the reproductive axis is due to impaired migration of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons, which in turn result in no active release of sex steroids such as testosterone and estrogen. Further developmental and functional studies are needed to determine the PROKR2 function in GnRH neuronal migration.

We previously characterized the ProkR2-Cre mouse model and assessed the co-expression of sex steroid receptors, estrogen receptor α (ER α) and androgen receptor (AR) in ProkR2-Cre expressing neurons of male and female mice [14, chapter 2]. We found that the brain site with the highest level of colocalization of ER α and AR was the posterior amygdala.

The amygdala is a complex structure comprised of several subdivisions including the basolateral, central, cortical, medial, lateral, and the posterior amygdala. Each subdivision has a role in

different aspects of behavior and/or cognition [15-20]. The medial amygdala and the posterior amygdala have both been implicated in motivated behaviors associated with reproductive success, but whereas the medial amygdala's role is well defined, the posterior amygdala remains vastly understudied [18, 19, 21-28].

The posterior amygdala has been identified in several mammals including rabbits, shrews, mice, and rats [23,29-34]. Earlier studies defined this region as the cortico-amygdaloid transition area, first described in the shrew [30]. It was also referenced and described in rats as the posterior part of the medial nucleus of the amygdala, and later as the amygdalohippocampal area [23-25, 29].

In rats, the posterior amygdala densely projects to the lateral septum, medial preoptic area, and ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus, all relevant for reproductive function and behaviors [30]. In mice, activity of the projections from the posterior amygdala to the ventromedial hypothalamus was associated with male aggression [33-34]. Together, these findings suggest that in rodents the posterior amygdala projects to reproductive control sites and have a function in behaviors associated with reproductive success. However, whether PROKR2 expressing neurons participate in this circuitry has not been demonstrated.

In this chapter, we used molecular tracing techniques to define the projections and innervation targets of Prokr2 neurons of the posterior amygdala in adult male and female mice.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Animals

Adult (2-5 months old) male and female B6;SJL-Prokr2em1(cre)Cfe (ProkR2-Cre) eGFP-L10a mice were used for all experiments (JAX[®] stock #043846-JAX, JAX[®] stock # 024750, [35]. Credependent eGFP-L10a mice were used to facilitate visualization of ProkR2-Cre cells and validate the injection sites and specificity of the viral vector. This mouse model was kindly provided by Dr. David Olson at the University of Michigan [36]. All mice were heterozygous for the Prokr2-Cre allele with one or two copies of the eGFP-L10a allele. Mice were maintained in a light-(12L:12D) and temperature- (21-23°C) controlled environment at the University of Michigan Animal Facility (ULAM) with free access to water and food. Mice were fed a phytoestrogenreduced Envigo diet 2016 (16% protein/4% fat), except during breeding when they were fed a high protein phytoestrogen-reduced Envigo diet 2019 (19% protein/8% fat). A phytoestrogenreduced diet is used in our laboratory to minimize the effects of exogenous estrogen in reproductive physiology [63-66]. All procedures and experiments were done in accordance with the guidelines established by the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Michigan (protocol # PRO0000420). All mice were genotyped by extracting DNA from ear punch biopsies (RED Extract-N-Amp Tissue PCR Kit catalog no. XNAT, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) and performing standard PCR (primers described in Table 1).

	Table 3	.1: P	rimers	used	for	genotyping	experimental	animals.
--	---------	-------	--------	------	-----	------------	--------------	----------

Gene	Primer Sequence	Size: (bp)
ProkR2-Cre	F 5' TCCCCACGGTAGTTGTGAAG 3'	Cre:353
	R 5' ATTGGTTGGTGTGGGTTTGCAG 3'	Wt:499

	mt 5' CAGCAGGTTGGAGACTTTCCT 3'	
eGFP-L10a (R26-	F: 5' GAG GGG AGT GTT GCA ATA CC 3'	Wt: 300
loxSTOPloxeGFP-L10a)	F: 5' TCT ACA AAT GTG GTA GAT CCA GGC 3'	Mt: 200
	R: 5' CAG ATG ACT ACC TAT CCT CCC 3'	

3.2.2 Stereotaxic Injections

A Cre-dependent ChannelRhodopsin-mCherry AAV (AAV-ChR2-mCherry) was used for mapping of neuronal projections (UNC Vector Core AAV-hSyn-hChR2(H134R)-mCherry, AAV5). Mice were anesthetized with 1.5–2% isoflurane (Fluriso; Vet One). The posterior amygdala injections in male mice were targeted 5 mm posterior to the rhinal vein, 2.1 mm lateral to midline, and 5.3 mm ventral to the dura-mater. In females, posterior amygdala injections were targeted 5 mm posterior to the rhinal vein, 2.1 mm lateral to the midline, and 5.1 mm ventral to the dura-mater. A volume of 100 nL of AAV-ChR2-mCherry was injected unilaterally using a pneumatic picopump (World Precision Instruments) as routinely performed in our lab [37-38]. The glass pipette was left in place for 3 min after injection to allow viral diffusion and avoid reflux. Carprofen (Rimadyl, 5 mg/kg, sc) was given preemptively and every 24h after surgery for two days as an analgesic. Mice were monitored for 10 days for recovery. After 3 weeks, mice were perfused, and brains were collected for histology.

3.2.3 Perfusions and Brain Histology

Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and transcardially perfused with 0.9% diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated 0.1M PBS followed by 10% neutral buffered formalin. Following perfusion, brains were collected and postfixed in 20% sucrose in 10% formalin for 2

h. Brains were cryprotected in 20% sucrose-DEPC-PBS overnight and sectioned in freezing microtome (Leica). Four series of 30 μm thick coronal sections were collected and stored at - 20°C in RNAse-free cryoprotectant.

3.2.4 Immunohistochemistry

Sections were washed with 0.1M PBS to remove cryoprotectant and incubated in 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) in Triton-PBS (0.25%) for 30 min. Sections were then incubated in anti-mCherry antibody made in rat (1:10,000, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# M11217, RRID: AB_2536611). The antibody solution was prepared with 3% normal donkey serum in 0.25% Triton X100 in 0.1M PBS and sections were incubated overnight at room temperature. The following day, sections were washed in 0.1M PBS and incubated in biotin-conjugated secondary donkey anti-rat antibody for 1 h (1:1,000, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories), washed again in 0.1M PBS and incubated in Avidin-Biotin Complex (ABC) in 0.1M PBS (1:500, Vector Labs) for 1 h. The peroxidase reaction was performed using 0.05% 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) as chromogen with 0.01% hydrogen peroxidase. Following 0.1M PBS washes, sections were mounted on gelatin coated slides, dehydrated, delipidated in xylenes for 5 days and subjected to a silver-gold amplification procedure. Slides were counterstained with thionin, dehydrated, delipidated in xylenes and cover slipped with DPX.

3.2.5 Imaging

Injections sites were visualized in brightfield and projections in darkfield. Images were acquired using the upright microscope Zeiss Axio Imager M2 and a digital camera (Axiocam, Zeiss) and the Zen software. Images were organized in figures using Adobe Photoshop (Adobe Creative).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Posterior Amygdala ProkR2-Cre neurons project to reproductive control sites

We performed stereotaxic injections of Cre inducible AAV-ChR2-mCherry into the posterior amygdala of ProkR2-Cre L10-GFP male and female mice to assess projections of posterior amygdala ProkR2 cells (Fig. 3.1). We obtained 3 male and 2 female mice with injections centered in the posterior amygdala, and 2 male and 3 female mice with injections in the posterior amygdala with spread of viral transduction to adjancent sites (Fig. 3.2 & Fig. 3.3). All samples were used for analyzing posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre projections. In males, dense projections were found in the lateral septum, ventral subdivision (Fig. 3.2, A), bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (Fig. 3.2, B), the medial preoptic area (Fig. 3.2, C), the

ventrolateral subdivision of the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus (Fig. 3.2, D) and the ventral premammillary nucleus (Fig. 3.2, E). Projections were also observed in the posterodorsal subdivision of the medial amygdala.

Females displayed similar projection pattern with dense innervation of the lateral septum (Fig. 3.3, A), bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (Fig. 3.3, B), the medial preoptic area (Fig. 3.3, C), the ventrolateral division of the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus (Fig. 3.3, D) and the ventral premammillary nucleus (Fig. 3.3, E). We observed that the projections to all sites were noticeably different between sexes. Males exhibited denser projection patters compared to females. Minor contralateral projections were present in all sites in both sexes. Analysis of the fibers morphology showed varicosities and terminal-like boutons, suggesting targeted innervation and synaptic contacts. Representative images for two reproductive control sites are shown (Fig. 3.4, A-B).

3.4 Discussion

In the present study we described the projection pattern of ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala in both male and female mice. Previous validation of this mouse model demonstrates that the posterior amygdala in both sexes express *Prokr2* in adulthood consistent with the reporter gene expression [35]. In fact, sexually dimorphic expression of ProkR2-Cre eGFP was observed in the posterior amygdala with males displaying a higher number of cells compared to females [35]. Aside from differences in successful AAV injection and viral expression, the sex difference in ProkR2 expression may explain the difference in density of projections between sexes.

Despite differing in ProkR2-Cre cell number in the posterior amygdala, both sexes display the same projection pattern to targeted sites. It is worth noting that the current approach cannot confirm whether the fibers at each reproductive control site form synapses or if they are fibers of passage. However, we do find dense varicosities and apparent terminal-like boutons in all these sites suggesting that posterior amygdala ProkR2 neurons specifically and densely innervate these sites.

The co-expression of gonadal steroid receptors along with the findings in this chapter favor a reproductive role for PROKR2 cells of the posterior amygdala [14, chapter 2]. ProkR2-Cre neurons are capable of sensing gonadal steroids milieu and likely process this information to the various brain regions implicated in a wide range of social and reproductive behaviors [14, chapter 2]. The lateral septum is a gonadal steroid dense region that regulates male sexual
behavior and aggression [40,41]. In females, research in mice have identify neurons in this area that are involved in regulating maternal behavior [42,43]. The lateral septum is also activated during sexual behavior [23-25] and lesions of the lateral septum result in impairment of male sexual behavior [44]. Lesions of the lateral septum in females impaired maternal behavior [42]. Projections to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis are also similarly implicated in these previously mentioned behaviors [45-47].

The posterior amygdala ProkR2 neurons of both sexes also project to the medial preotic area, which is a crucial site for the regulation of the hypothalamo-pituitary-gonadal axis (HPG) axis. Among the distinct subdivisions of the preoptic area, is the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) where lies the kisspeptin neurons [48]. Upstream of GnRH neurons, when stimulated, AVPV kisspeptin neurons activate the HPG axis and induce release of luteinizing hormone, necessary for ovulation in females [48-49]. Whether posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre neurons directly innervate kisspeptin neurons needs evaluation. Together, the lateral septum, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and the preoptic area, are part of a complex circuit activated by pheromone or olfactory cues and social/sexual behaviors [50-53].

The projections to the ventromedial hypothalamus specifically the ventrolateral subdivision reinforce a possible reproductive role for the ProkR2 neurons in the posterior amygdala. This site is associated with lordosis behavior in females and aggression in males; it also densely express gonadal steroids receptor [34, 50, 54-55]. Similarly, the premammillary nucleus is a critical site in the integration of internal (i.e., steroids milieu) and external environmental cues, including metabolic and relevant olfactory signals. It is also part of the hypothalamo-amygdala circuit that,

together with the medial amygdala, integrates olfactory cues in sex recognition [56-60]. *In situ* hybridization data shows Vglut1 mRNA in the posterior amygdala suggesting that neurons of the posterior amygdala use mainly glutamate neurotransmission in the terminal sites [61]. The strong projections of the ProkR2 neurons from the posterior amygdala to these sites suggest they may also be part of neural pathways linking the olfactory system and hypothalamic pathways for reproductive behaviors.

Previously, posterior amygdala projections were characterized in rats using *Phaseolus vulgaris* (PHAL), a standard anterograde tracer [30]. This study described projections to the same reproductive control sites we observed in our studies. PHAL, however, targets random neuronal populations. Though rats and mice share many similarities, it is important to keep in mind they also display many differences in neurochemistry and behavioral control [62]. Our molecular mapping and genetic approach identified the specific projections of posterior amygdala ProkR2 neurons. Together with chapter 2 [14], the findings described in this chapter strongly support the idea that these neurons have a role in the modulation of the HPG axis and motivated behaviors associated with reproductive function. To test this, we conducted functional studies described in chapter 4.

3.5 References

- 1. Cheng, M. Y., Leslie, F. M., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2006). Expression of prokineticins and their receptors in the adult mouse brain. *J Comp Neurol* 498, 796–809. doi: 10.1002/cne.21087.
- Burton, K. J., Li, X., Li, B., Cheng, M. Y., Urbanski, H. F., and Zhou, Q.-Y. (2016). Expression of prokineticin 2 and its receptor in the macaque monkey brain. *Chronobiol Int* 33, 191–199. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2015.1125361.
- **3.** Mohsen, Z., Sim, H., Garcia-Galiano, D., Han, X., Bellefontaine, N., Saunders, T. L., et al. (2017). Sexually dimorphic distribution of Prokr2 neurons revealed by the Prokr2-Cre mouse model. *Brain Struct Funct*. doi: 10.1007/s00429-017-1456-5.
- Abreu, A. P., Trarbach, E. B., de Castro, M., Frade Costa, E. M., Versiani, B., Matias Baptista, M. T., et al. (2008). Loss-of-Function Mutations in the Genes Encoding Prokineticin-2 or Prokineticin Receptor-2 Cause Autosomal Recessive Kallmann Syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, 4113–4118. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0958.
- **5.** Avbelj Stefanija, M., Jeanpierre, M., Sykiotis, G. P., Young, J., Quinton, R., Abreu, A. P., et al. (2012). An ancient founder mutation in PROKR2 impairs human reproduction. *Hum Mol Genet* 21, 4314–4324. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds264.
- 6. Dodé, C., and Rondard, P. (2013). PROK2/PROKR2 Signaling and Kallmann Syndrome. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 4. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00019.
- Mkaouar, R., Abdallah, L. C. Ben, Naouali, C., Lahbib, S., Turki, Z., Elouej, S., et al. (2021). Oligogenic Inheritance Underlying Incomplete Penetrance of PROKR2 Mutations in Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism. *Front Genet* 12, 665174. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.665174.
- 8. Yuan, H., Deng, S., Gao, W., Li, H., and Yuan, M. (2021). Identification of MMACHC and PROKR2 mutations causing coexistent cobalamin C disease and Kallmann syndrome in a young woman. *Metab Brain Dis* 36, 447–452. doi: 10.1007/s11011-020-00654-8.
- **9.** Sugisawa, C., Taniyama, M., Sato, T., Takahashi, Y., Hasegawa, T., and Narumi, S. (2022). Biallelic PROKR2 variants and congenital hypogonadotropic hypogonadism: a case report and a literature review. *Endocr J* 69, EJ21-0779. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ21-0779.
- Hardelin, J. P., and Dodé, C. (2008). The complex genetics of Kallmann syndrome: KAL1, FGFR1, FGF8, PROKR2, PROK2, et al. *Sexual Development* 2, 181–193. doi: 10.1159/000152034.
- 11. Dodé, C., and Hardelin, J.-P. (2009). Kallmann syndrome. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 17, 139–146. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.206.

- **12.** Stamou, M. I., and Georgopoulos, N. A. (2018). Kallmann syndrome: phenotype and genotype of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Metabolism* 86, 124–134. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.10.012.
- Matsumoto, S. -i., Yamazaki, C., Masumoto, K. -h., Nagano, M., Naito, M., Soga, T., et al. (2006). Abnormal development of the olfactory bulb and reproductive system in mice lacking prokineticin receptor PKR2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 4140–4145. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508881103.
- 14. Cisneros-Larios, B., and Elias, C. F. (2023). Sex differences in the coexpression of prokineticin receptor 2 and gonadal steroids receptors in mice. *Front Neuroanat* 16. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2022.1057727.
- 15. Baum, M. J., Tobet, S. A., Starr, M. S., and Bradshaw, W. G. (1982). Implantation of dihydrotestosterone propionate into the lateral septum or medial amygdala facilitates copulation in castrated male rats given estradiol systemically. *Horm Behav* 16, 208–223. doi: 10.1016/0018-506X(82)90020-4.
- 16. Wood, R. I., and Coolen, L. M. (1997). Integration of chemosensory and hormonal cues is essential for sexual behaviour in the male Syrian hamster: role of the medial amygdaloid nucleus. *Neuroscience* 78, 1027–35. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9174071.
- 17. Sah, P., Faber, E. S. L., Lopez de Armentia, M., and Power, J. (2003). The Amygdaloid Complex: Anatomy and Physiology. *Physiol Rev* 83, 803–834. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00002.2003.
- DiBenedictis, B. T., Ingraham, K. L., Baum, M. J., and Cherry, J. A. (2012). Disruption of urinary odor preference and lordosis behavior in female mice given lesions of the medial amygdala. *Physiol Behav* 105, 554–9. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.014.
- **19.** Bergan, J. F., Ben-Shaul, Y., and Dulac, C. (2014). Sex-specific processing of social cues in the medial amygdala. *Elife* 3. doi: 10.7554/eLife.02743.
- **20.** Hari Dass, S. A., and Vyas, A. (2014). Copulation or sensory cues from the female augment Fos expression in arginine vasopressin neurons of the posterodorsal medial amygdala of male rats. *Front Zool* 11, 42. doi: 10.1186/1742-9994-11-42.
- **21.** Canteras, N. S., Simerly, R. B., and Swanson, L. W. (1995). Organization of projections from the medial nucleus of the amygdala: A PHAL study in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* 360, 213–245. doi: 10.1002/cne.903600203.
- **22.** McCarthy, E. A., Maqsudlu, A., Bass, M., Georghiou, S., Cherry, J. A., and Baum, M. J. (2017). DREADD-induced silencing of the medial amygdala reduces the preference for male

pheromones and the expression of lordosis in estrous female mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 46, 2035–2046. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13636.

- 23. Kollack, S. S., and Newman, S. W. (1992). Mating behavior induces selective expression of Fos protein within the chemosensory pathways of the male Syrian hamster brain. *Neurosci Lett* 143, 223–8. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1436670.
- 24. Kollack-Walker, S., and Newman, S. W. (1995). Mating and agonistic behavior produce different patterns of Fos immunolabeling in the male Syrian hamster brain. *Neuroscience* 66, 721–36. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7644033.
- **25.** Kollack-Walker, S., and Newman, S. W. (1997). Mating-induced expression of c-fos in the male Syrian hamster brain: role of experience, pheromones, and ejaculations. *J Neurobiol* 32, 481–501. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9110260.
- **26.** Keshavarzi, S., Sullivan, R. K. P., Ianno, D. J., and Sah, P. (2014). Functional Properties and Projections of Neurons in the Medial Amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 8699–8715. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1176-14.2014.
- 27. Li, Y., Mathis, A., Grewe, B. F., Osterhout, J. A., Ahanonu, B., Schnitzer, M. J., et al. (2017). Neuronal Representation of Social Information in the Medial Amygdala of Awake Behaving Mice. *Cell* 171, 1176-1190.e17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.015.
- 28. Chen, P. B., Hu, R. K., Wu, Y. E., Pan, L., Huang, S., Micevych, P. E., et al. (2019). Sexually Dimorphic Control of Parenting Behavior by the Medial Amygdala. *Cell* 176, 1206-1221.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.024.
- **29.** Brodal, A. (1947). The amygdaloid nucleus in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* 87, 1–16. doi: 10.1002/cne.900870102.
- **30.** Canteras, N. S., Simerly, R. B., and Swanson, L. W. (1992). Connections of the posterior nucleus of the amygdala. *J Comp Neurol* 324, 143–79. doi: 10.1002/cne.903240203.
- **31.** Crosby, E. C., and Humphrey, T. (1944). Studies of the vertebrate telencephalon. III. The amygdaloid complex in the shrew (Blarina brevicauda). *J Comp Neurol* 81, 285–305. doi: 10.1002/cne.900810305.
- **32.** Scalia, F., and Winans, S. S. (1975). The differential projections of the olfactory bulb and accessory olfactory bulb in mammals. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 161, 31–55. doi: 10.1002/cne.901610105.
- **33.** Yamaguchi, T., Wei, D., Song, S. C., Lim, B., Tritsch, N. X., and Lin, D. (2020). Posterior amygdala regulates sexual and aggressive behaviors in male mice. *Nat Neurosci* 23, 1111–1124. doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-0675-x.

- 34. Zha, X., Wang, L., Jiao, Z.-L., Yang, R.-R., Xu, C., and Xu, X.-H. (2020). VMHvl-Projecting Vglut1+ Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Gate Territorial Aggression. *Cell Rep* 31, 107517. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.03.081.
- **35.** Mohsen, Z., Sim, H., Garcia-Galiano, D., Han, X., Bellefontaine, N., Saunders, T. L., et al. (2017). Sexually dimorphic distribution of Prokr2 neurons revealed by the Prokr2-Cre mouse model. *Brain Struct. Funct.* doi: 10.1007/s00429-017-1456-5.
- 36. Krashes, M. J., Shah, B. P., Madara, J. C., Olson, D. P., Strochlic, D. E., Garfield, A. S., et al. (2014). An excitatory paraventricular nucleus to AgRP neuron circuit that drives hunger. *Nature* 507, 238. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature12956.
- **37.** Donato, J., Cravo, R. M., Frazão, R., Gautron, L., Scott, M. M., Lachey, J., et al. (2011). Leptin's effect on puberty in mice is relayed by the ventral premammillary nucleus and does not require signaling in Kiss1 neurons. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 355–368. doi: 10.1172/JCI45106.
- 38. Mahany, E. B., Han, X., Borges, B. C., da Silveira Cruz-Machado, S., Allen, S. J., Garcia-Galiano, D., et al. (2018). Obesity and High-Fat Diet Induce Distinct Changes in Placental Gene Expression and Pregnancy Outcome. *Endocrinology* 159, 1718–1733. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-03053.
- **39.** De Lacalle, S., Lim, C., Sobreviela, T., Mufson, E. J., Hersh, L. B., and Saper, C. B. (1994). Cholinergic innervation in the human hippocampal formation including the entorhinal cortex. *J Comp Neurol* 345, 321–344. doi: 10.1002/cne.903450302.
- **40.** Potegal, M., Blau, A., and Glusman, M. (1981). Effects of anteroventral septal lesions on intraspecific aggression in male hamsters. *Physiol Behav* 26, 407–412. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(81)90167-0.
- **41.** Risold, P. Y., and Swanson, L. W. (1997). Chemoarchitecture of the rat lateral septal nucleus. *Brain Res Rev* 24, 91–113. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(97)00008-8.
- **42.** Flannelly, K. J., Kemble, E. D., Caroline Blanchard, D., and Blanchard, R. J. (1986). Effects of septal-forebrain lesions on maternal aggression and maternal care. *Behav Neural Biol* 45, 17–30. doi: 10.1016/S0163-1047(86)80002-4.
- **43.** Lee, G., and Gammie, S. C. (2009). GABAA receptor signaling in the lateral septum regulates maternal aggression in mice. *Behavioral Neuroscience* 123, 1169–1177. doi: 10.1037/a0017535.
- 44. Kondo, Y. (1990). Role of septum and preoptic area in regulating masculine and feminine sexual behavior in male rats. *Horm Behav* 24, 421–434. doi: 10.1016/0018-506X(90)90019-T.

- **45.** Emery, D. E., and Sachs, B. D. (1976). Copulatory behavior in male rats with lesions in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Physiol Behav* 17, 803–806. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(76)90044-5.
- **46.** Valcourt, R. J., and Sachs, B. D. (1979). Penile reflexes and copulatory behavior in male rats following lesions in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Brain Res Bull* 4, 131–133. doi: 10.1016/0361-9230(79)90068-6.
- 47. Powers, J. B., Newman, S. W., and Bergondy, M. L. (1987). MPOA and BNST lesions in male Syrian hamsters. *Behavioural Brain Research* 23, 181–195. doi: 10.1016/0166-4328(87)90019-2.
- **48.** Smith, J. T., Popa, S. M., Clifton, D. K., Hoffman, G. E., and Steiner, R. A. (2006). Kiss1 neurons in the forebrain as central processors for generating the preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge. *J Neurosci* 26, 6687–94. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1618-06.2006.
- **49.** Messager, S., Chatzidaki, E. E., Ma, D., Hendrick, A. G., Zahn, D., Dixon, J., et al. (2005). Kisspeptin directly stimulates gonadotropin-releasing hormone release via G protein-coupled receptor 54. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 1761–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409330102.
- **50.** Coolen, L. M., Peters, H. J., and Veening, J. G. (1996). Fos immunoreactivity in the rat brain following consummatory elements of sexual behavior: a sex comparison. *Brain Res* 738, 67–82. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8949929.
- **51.** Boehm, U., Zou, Z., and Buck, L. B. (2005). Feedback Loops Link Odor and Pheromone Signaling with Reproduction. *Cell* 123, 683–695. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.027.
- **52.** Wu, Z., Autry, A. E., Bergan, J. F., Watabe-Uchida, M., and Dulac, C. G. (2014). Galanin neurons in the medial preoptic area govern parental behaviour. *Nature* 509, 325–330. doi: 10.1038/nature13307.
- **53.** Baum, M. J., and Cherry, J. A. (2015). Processing by the main olfactory system of chemosignals that facilitate mammalian reproduction. *Horm Behav* 68, 53–64. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2014.06.003.
- **54.** Flanagan-Cato, L. M., Lee, B. J., and Calizo, L. H. (2006). Co-localization of midbrain projections, progestin receptors, and mating-induced fos in the hypothalamic ventromedial nucleus of the female rat. *Horm Behav* 50, 52–60. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.01.012.
- **55.** Yang, C. F., Chiang, M. C., Gray, D. C., Prabhakaran, M., Alvarado, M., Juntti, S. A., et al. (2013). Sexually Dimorphic Neurons in the Ventromedial Hypothalamus Govern Mating in Both Sexes and Aggression in Males. *Cell* 153, 896–909. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.04.017.
- **56.** Beltramino, C., and Taleisnik, S. (1985). Ventral premammillary nuclei mediate pheromonalinduced LH release stimuli in the rat. *Neuroendocrinology* 41, 119–24. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4047330.

- 57. Yokosuka, M., Matsuoka, M., Ohtani-Kaneko, R., Iigo, M., Hara, M., Hirata, K., et al. (1999). Female-soiled bedding induced Fos immunoreactivity in the ventral part of the premammillary nucleus (PMv) of the male mouse. *Physiol Behav* 68, 257–261. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(99)00160-2.
- **58.** Cavalcante, J. C., Bittencourt, J. C., and Elias, C. F. (2006). Female odors stimulate CART neurons in the ventral premammillary nucleus of male rats. *Physiol Behav* 88, 160–166. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.03.032.
- Leshan, R. L., Louis, G. W., Jo, Y.-H., Rhodes, C. J., Münzberg, H., and Myers, M. G. (2009). Direct innervation of GnRH neurons by metabolic- and sexual odorant-sensing leptin receptor neurons in the hypothalamic ventral premammillary nucleus. *J Neurosci* 29, 3138–47. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0155-09.2009.
- **60.** Donato, J., and Elias, C. F. (2011). The ventral premammillary nucleus links metabolic cues and reproduction. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 2, 57. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2011.00057.
- 61. Allen Reference Atlas Mouse Brain [brain atlas]. Available from atlas.brain-map.org.
- **62.** Stagkourakis, S., Smiley, K. O., Williams, P., Kakadellis, S., Ziegler, K., Bakker, J., et al. (2020). A Neuro-hormonal Circuit for Paternal Behavior Controlled by a Hypothalamic Network Oscillation. *Cell* 182, 960-975.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.07.007.
- **63.** Boettger-Tong, H., Murthy, L., Chiappetta, C., Kirkland, J. L., Goodwin, B., Adlercreutz, H., et al. (1998). A case of a laboratory animal feed with high estrogenic activity and its impact on in vivo responses to exogenously administered estrogens. *Environ Health Perspect* 106, 369–73. doi: 10.1289/ehp.98106369.
- Brown, N. M., and Setchell, K. D. (2001). Animal models impacted by phytoestrogens in commercial chow: implications for pathways influenced by hormones. *Lab Invest* 81, 735– 47. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780282.
- **65.** Thigpen, J. E., Setchell, K. D. R., Saunders, H. E., Haseman, J. K., Grant, M. G., and Forsythe, D. B. (2004). Selecting the Appropriate Rodent Diet for Endocrine Disruptor Research and Testing Studies. *ILAR J* 45, 401–416. doi: 10.1093/ilar.45.4.401.
- **66.** Dinsdale, E. C., and Ward, W. E. (2010). Early exposure to soy isoflavones and effects on reproductive health: a review of human and animal studies. *Nutrients* 2, 1156–87. doi: 10.3390/nu2111156.
- **67.** Paxinos, G. and Franklin, K.B.J. (2001) The Mouse Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. 2nd Edition, Academic Press, San Diego.



Figure 3.1: Successful stereotaxic injections in male and female brains A) Schematic illustration for the injection of cre dependent channelrhodopsin (Chr2)- used for mapping. (B) Example darkfield micrographs, of gold enhanced immunohistochemistry whole brain sections hits in the posterior amygdala showing visible Chr2-mCherry expression and Chr2–mCherry fibers from PA to the PMv nuclei in in males and (C) in females. (D) Darkfield images showing injection site in male and (E) female PA. *Brain atlas images adapted from Paxinos and Franklin, 2001* [67]. Abbreviations: CoA: cortical amygdala; LV: lateral ventricle; PA: posterior amygdala; PMv: ventral premammillary nucleus. Scale bar: B,C=500 µm, D,E=200 µm.



Figure 3.2: ProkR2-Cre projections from the posterior amygdala of males. Darkfield micrographs showing projections to the (A) lateral septum, (B) bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, to the (C) medial preoptic area, (D) ventromedial hypothalamus ventrolateral subdivision and (E) premammillary nucleus. Brain atlas reference image showing nuclei in whole brain section is represented on the left side. *Brain atlas images adapted from Paxinos and Franklin, 2001* [67]. Abbreviations: BNST: bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; LS: lateral septum; LV: lateral ventricle; MPO: medial preoptic nucleus; PA: posterior amygdala; PMv: ventral premammillary nucleus; VMHvI: ventromedial hypothalamus, ventrolateral subdivision; 3V: third ventricle. Scale bar: 500 µm.



Figure 3.3: ProkR2-Cre projections from the posterior amygdala of females. Darkfield micrographs showing projections to the (A) lateral septum, (B) bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, to the (C) medial preoptic area, (D) ventromedial hypothalamus ventrolateral subdivision and (E) premammillary nucleus. Brain atlas reference image showing nuclei in whole brain section is represented on the left side. *Brain atlas images adapted from Paxinos and Franklin, 2001* [67]. Abbreviations: BNST: bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; LS: lateral septum; LV: lateral ventricle; MPO: medial preoptic nucleus; PA: posterior amygdala; PMv: ventral premammillary nucleus; VMHvI: ventromedial hypothalamus, ventrolateral subdivision; 3V: third ventricle. Scale bar: 500 µm



Figure 3.4: Representative images of dense varicosities observed in posterior amygdala ProrkR2-Cre projections to reproductive control sites. (A) Dense projections in the medial preoptic area show terminal-like boutons (B) Dense projections in the ventromedial hypothalamus, ventrolateral subdivision show terminal-like boutons. Brain atlas reference images on the left highlight magnified area in red. Arrows point to terminal-like boutons. *Brain atlas images adapted from Paxinos and Franklin, 2001* [67]. Abbreviations: MPO: medial preoptic area; VMHvI: ventromedial hypothalamus, ventrolateral subdivision. Scale bar: 50 µm

Chapter 4 Prokineticin Receptor 2 Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Respond to Olfactory Cues and Stimulate Luteinizing Hormone Release

4.1 Introduction

Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) deficiency and anosmia, caused by defective GnRH neuronal migration and olfactory bulb development, are characteristics of Kallmann Syndrome (KS) resulting in infertility [1-5]. Mutations in the prokineticin receptor 2 gene, *PROKR2*, have been identified in patients with KS [6-13]. Similarly, mice with global deletion of *Prokr2* have impaired GnRH neuronal migration and as a result are also infertile [14-16]. The precise mechanisms by which PROKR2 expressing neurons drive GnRH neuron migration have not been fully characterized. Aside from this developmental role, it is known that PROKR2 is highly expressed in the adult brain. Specifically, its dense expression in reproductive control sites warrants investigating PROKR2 expressing neurons in reproductive physiology.

The physiological role of PROKR2 neurons is not well understood in part due to lack of adequate animal models. Our lab overcame this by developing a ProkR2-Cre mouse model in which Cre recombinase expression is driven by the *Prokr2* promoter. With this mouse model, we mapped the distribution of PROKR2-expressing cells in the brain of both sexes. Using a GFP reporter line, we found sexually dimorphic expression of PROKR2 in many areas of the brain associated with reproductive control [17]. We previously showed that the posterior amygdala had ProkR2-Cre cells that coexpress gonadal steroids receptors relevant for successful reproduction,

i.e., ERα and AR in a sex-specific manner [18, chapter 2]. Additionally, using molecular mapping and viral vector injections we further mapped the posterior amygdala projections of ProkR2-Cre-expressing and found a dense innervation of forebrain sites associated with reproductive neuroendocrine function and motivated behavior in male and female mice [Chapter 3]. Altogether, our findings suggest that the PROKR2 containing neurons in the posterior amygdala have a role in reproductive neuroendocrine function.

In this study, we set out to determine if ProkR2-Cre cells are part of a neural network involved in reproductive behaviors and if they can act on the HPG axis for LH release in male mice. While we found similar projection patterns in male and female mice, we focused our studies on male mice as a first step in understanding the behavioral role of these neurons. We assessed if sexual behavior and/or conspecific odors induce Fos expression (a marker of cellular response) in ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala. We further used chemogenetic approach, the designer receptor exclusively activated by designer drugs (DREADDs) coupled with Cre/loxP technology to determine if activation of ProkR2-Cre cells change circulating LH levels.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Animals

Adult (2-5 months old) male and female B6;SJL-*Prokr2*^{em1(cre)Cfe} (ProkR2-Cre) eGFP-L10a mice were used for all experiments (JAX[®] stock #043846-JAX, JAX[®] stock # 024750, [17]). Credependent eGFP-L10a mice were used to facilitate visualization of ProkR2-Cre cells and validate the injection sites and specificity of the viral vector. This mouse model was kindly provided by

Dr. David Olson at the University of Michigan [19]. All mice were heterozygous for the *Prokr2*-Cre allele with one or two copies of the eGFP-L10a allele. Mice were maintained in a light-(12L:12D) and temperature- (21-23°C) controlled environment at the University of Michigan Animal Facility (ULAM) with free access to water and food. Mice were fed a phytoestrogenreduced Envigo diet 2016 (16% protein/4% fat), except during breeding when they were fed a high protein phytoestrogen-reduced Envigo diet 2019 (19% protein/8% fat). A phytoestrogenreduced diet is used in our laboratory to minimize the effects of exogenous estrogen in reproductive physiology [60-63]. All procedures and experiments were done in accordance with the guidelines established by the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Michigan (protocol # PRO0000420). All mice were genotyped as described in chapter 3.

4.2.2 Mating Behavior

Sexually experienced males and females of proven fertility were used as experimental mice. Males were individually housed in cages with wired mesh tops for at least two days. A recording set up in a closed room using ZOSI 1080P CCRV Cameras was used to record mating behavior such as mounts, intromission and ejaculation as described in McGill 1962 and André et al., 2021 [20-21]. We performed vaginal lavages on females for two weeks to assess estrous cycle stage, select normal cycling females and to determine the proestrus day, when females are expected to be receptive [22-24]. A proestrus female was moved to the male cage one hour after lights off, behavior was recorded, and ejaculation was determined by the increased thrusting and spasmodic rear leg movements as described in (McGill, 1962) and (André et al., 2021) [20-21]. 90 min after ejaculation, male brains were collected for histology.

4.2.3 Soiled Bedding Odor Test

Soiled bedding for all experiments came from either normally cycling females that were individually housed or from individually housed males for one week prior to experiments. Cotton nestlets were added to cage bedding. Experimental animals were either sexually naïve or sexually experienced and were also individually housed. Experimental and control animals received daily handling for 1 h before lights off for 6 days to reduce stress on the day of experiment. On day 7, mice were divided into two groups: those exposed to clean bedding or those exposed to soiled bedding. For males exposed to female soiled bedding, 1 h before lights off, males were moved to either a clean or a soiled bedding cage. For males exposed to male soiled bedding, the cotton bedding was added to home cage of males instead of transferring males to a soiled cage to reduce Fos expression related to territoriality and aggression and focus on odor stimulation [25-26]. Following 90 min, all animals were perfused, and brains were collected as previously described.

4.2.4 Immunofluorescence

Sections were washed using 0.1M PBS to remove cryoprotectant and were incubated in primary anti-GFP (1:5,000, AvesLabs, catalog #GFP-1010; RRID: AB_2307313) and/or anti-Fos (1: 2,000, Millipore Cat# ABE457, RRID: AB_2631318) antibodies in 0.25% Triton in 0.1 M PBS and 3% donkey serum, overnight at room temperature. The next day sections were washed using 0.1M PBS and incubated in donkey anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 594 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-21207, RRID: AB_141637) for 1 h. Sections were then washed using 0.1 M PBS and incubated in donkey anti-chicken Alexa Fluor 488 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11029, RRID: AB_2534088) for 1 h. Following a last wash, sections were mounted on gelatin coated

slides and coverslipped with FluoromountTM (Southern Biotechnology Associates, Birmingham, AL, USA).

4.2.5 Stereotaxic Injection

Adult mice were used for all surgeries. A Cre-dependent AAV hM3Dq-mCherry was used for remote activation of the posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre neurons. pAAV-hSyn-DIO-hM3D(Gq)-mCherry was a gift from Bryan Roth (Addgene plasmid # 44361 ; http://n2t.net/addgene:44361 ; RRID:Addgene_44361 [27]. Mice were anesthetized with 1.5–2% isoflurane (Fluriso; Vet One). Posterior amygdala injections in male mice were targeted 5 mm posterior to the rostral rhinal vein, ±2.1 dmm lateral to midline, and 5.3 mm ventral to the dura-mater. In females, posterior amygdala injections were targeted 5 mm posterior to the rostral rhinal vein, ±2.1 mm lateral to the dura-mater. A volume of 100 nL of AAV was injected bilaterally using a pneumatic picopump (World Precision Instruments) as routinely performed in our lab [28-29]. The glass pipette was left in place for 3 min after injection to allow viral diffusion and avoid reflux. Carprofen (Rimadyl, 5 mg/kg, sc) was given preemptively and every 24h after surgery for two days as an analgesic. Mice were monitored for 10 days for recovery.

4.2.6 Posterior Amygdala ProkR2-Cre Cell Activation and Culex Automated Blood Collection

Three weeks after stereotaxic injections, adult male mice were transferred to the Michigan Mouse Metabolic Phenotyping Center (MMPC, NIDDK) and underwent jugular vein and carotid artery catheterization. Following 4 days of recovery, mice were connected to a Culex automated blood collection machine [30]. Blood samples were collected at 15-min intervals for 30 min prior to clozapine N-oxide (CNO) intraperitoneal injection (0.5 mg/kg), and 1 h following CNO injection. Mice remained in the chambers for an additional hour after which brains were collected for histology (2hrs post CNO).

4.2.7 Perfusion and Brain Histology

Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and transcardially perfused with 0.1M PBS followed by 10% neutral buffered formalin. Following perfusion, brains were collected and postfixed in 20% sucrose in 10% formalin for 2 h. Brains were cryoprotected in 20% sucrose-DEPC-PBS overnight and sectioned in freezing microtome (Leica). Four series of 30 µm thick coronal sections were collected and stored at -20 °C in RNAse-free cryoprotectant.

4.2.8 Luteinizing Hormone Analysis

Blood samples were processed, and sera were shipped to University of Virginia's Ligand Assay and Analysis Core. Samples were analyzed by the Core using an ultrasensitive LH ELISA assay. This ELISA assay method has an average reportable range of 0.016 to 4 ng/mL [31].

4.2.9 Dual-label Immunoperoxidase:

Sections were washed with 0.1M PBS to remove cryoprotectant and were incubated in 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) in Triton-PBS (0.25%) for 30 min. Sections were then incubated in anti-Fos (1: 5,000, Millipore Cat# ABE457, RRID:AB_2631318) in 0.25% Triton in 0.1 M PBS and 3% donkey serum, overnight at room temperature. The following day, sections were washed in 0.1M PBS and incubated in biotin-conjugated secondary donkey anti-rabbit antibody for 1 h (1:1,000, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories), washed again in 0.1M PBS and incubated in Avidin-Biotin Complex (ABC) in 0.1M PBS (1:500, Vector Labs) for 1 h. The peroxidase reaction was performed using 0.05 % 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) as chromogen with 0.01 % hydrogen peroxidase and 0.05 % nickel ammonium sulfate as chromogens. Following 0.1 M

PBS washes and another 30 min 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) incubation, sections were incubated in chicken anti-GFP primary antibody (1:20,000, AvesLabs, catalog #GFP-1010; RRID:AB_2307313) anti-mCherry antibody made in rat (1:5,000, Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# M11217, RRID:AB_2536611) to label hM3Dq positive cells. Donkey anti-rat Alexa Fluor 594 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-21209, RRID: AB_2535795) and donkey anti-chicken Alexa Fluor 488 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Cat# A-11029, RRID:AB_2534088) were used as secondaries following the immunofluorescence protocol previously described. Following the last 0.1M PBS washes, sections were mounted on gelatin coated slides, coverslipped with FluoromountTM (Southern Biotechnology Associates, Birmingham, AL, USA).

4.2.10 Statistics

Data are reported as the mean \pm SEM. Prism, version 9 (GraphPad Software Inc.) was used for analysis. A Shapiro–Wilk test (significance alpha 0.05) was used to test normal distribution of data. An unpaired *t* test with Welch's correction was used for normally distributed data and a Mann–Whitney non-parametric test was used for non-normally distributed data.

4.2.11 Image Capture

All images were captured and processed as described in chapter 2.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala respond to conspecific opposite sex olfactory cues.

Mating behavior

We exposed sexually-experienced males to either a clean cage (control condition) or a proestrus female that was normally cycling to determine Fos immunoreactivity (Fos-ir) in the posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre cells in response to sexually relevant stimuli. Fos expression of males exposed to a clean cage (Fig. 4.1, A-B) or a proestrus female (Fig. 4.1, C-D) was assessed (n=3 for each group). After mating with a female (observed intromission and ejaculation), we observed higher Fos-ir in the posterior amygdala of males compared to those exposed to an empty cage (23.33 ± 3.75 Fos-ir cells *vs* 5 ± 2.52 Fos-ir cells, *p* = 0.02. (Fig. 4.1, E). The percentage of Fos-positive neurons that coexpress ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a was not different as a subset of Fos-ir cells observed in the control group coepressed GFP (Fig. 4.1, F).

Males exposed to female odor

Because sexual behavior has many components that could induce Fos-ir in male mice, we assessed if female odors only could be responsible for the effects observed. We performed female soiled bedding exposure tests on sexually experienced males to determine Fos-ir in the posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre cells. Males were exposed to clean bedding (Fig. 4.2, A-B) and soiled bedding from cycling females (Fig. 4.2, C-D, n=6 per group). Exposure to female soiled bedding significantly increased Fos in ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala (26.67 \pm 4.014 Fos-ir cells vs 6.33 \pm 1.606 Fos-ir cells, p=0.002, Fig. 4.3, E). An estimated 45.9% of Fos-ir cells coexpress ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a and were significantly higher compared to controls (p=0.002, Fig. 4.3, F).

Male exposed to male odor

We performed male soiled bedding exposure tests with sexually experienced males to determine Fos activation of posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre cells. Males were exposed to clean bedding (Fig. 4.4, A-B) or soiled bedding from individually housed males (Fig. 4.4, C-D n=5 clean bedding, n=4 soiled bedding), and Fos immunoreactivity was assessed after exposure. Exposure to male soiled bedding did not increase Fos-ir in the posterior amygdala compared to clean bedding (8.75 \pm 1.109 Fos-ir cells vs 3 \pm 1.897 Fos-ir cells, p=0.1, Fig. 4.4, E). Of the few Fos-ir cells present, about half co-express ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10. (Fig. 4.4, F).

4.3.2 Chemogenetic activation of ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala increase LH levels in male mice.

We performed bilateral stereotaxic injections of Cre inducible hM3Dq-mCherry into the posterior amygdala of ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a of males and collected blood samples (Fig. 4.5, A-B). Successful injections were determined by mCherry immunoreactivity (ir) in the posterior amygdala (Fig. 4.5, A-D). Eight of 11 mice with injections targeting the PA had an increase of LH after CNO administration (Fig. 4.6, A). Of those 5 had some spread of viral transduction to adjacent sites (Fig. 4.6, B). Injections outside of the posterior amygdala were considered misses and used as controls. Brains with missed injections had no detectable mCherry expression suggesting stereotaxic injections were either in brain sites without Cre expression or outside of the brain. The control mice with injections outside of the posterior amygdala showed no increase in LH after CNO (Fig. 4.6, C). To validate the injections, we also used Fos-ir. Statistical analysis revealed a different in LH between miss and hit injections to the posterior amygdala, p<0.05 (Fig. 4.6 D). We found a positive correlation between Fos-positive neurons in the posterior amygdala and LH levels, p<0.05. (Fig. 4.6, E). We also found Fos expression in the posterior amygdala (MePV) across all groups, including those

with contamination of adjacent nuclei (that includes MePV). However, no correlation between increase in LH values and MePV Fos-ir was observed.

4.4 Discussion

Social and reproductive behaviors in mammals such as rats, mice, and other rodents, rely on complex neural pathways connecting the olfactory system to the amygdala. The amygdala is divided into several subdivisions that process olfactory cues and drive motivated behaviors [32]. The amygdala is considered a critical chemosensory integration center for social behaviors and reproductive success [33-34]. The rodent olfactory system processes olfactory cues via the main and the accessory olfactory paths and convey odor information to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, the medial amygdala, and subdivisions of the cortical amygdala [35-40]. The subdivisions of the amygdala then project directly to the hypothalamus to modulate social behaviors and induce neuroendocrine responses [41-45].

Odor stimulation, lesions in brain nuclei and behavioral assays coupled with measuring reproductive hormone levels have been critical for mapping the olfactory system, amygdala, and hypothalamic function. Odorants in urine, soiled bedding and exposure to potential mates increases circulating LH and testosterone levels in mice [46-49]. Lesions of the ventral premammillary nucleus prevent a rise in LH following exposure to soiled bedding demonstrating that intact connections to the PMv are required for LH release [50]. Lesions of the medial amygdala disrupt lordosis behavior in female mice and sexual behavior in male rats [51-52]. Additionally, electrochemical stimulation of the cortical and medial amygdala facilitates LH release [53]. These studies by design target the entire population of neurons in specific nuclei and, in some approaches, they also lesion fibers of passage. The interpretation of the results,

therefore, may be incomplete as they do not address mechanisms, type of cells or chemical phenotypes of targeted populations. Regardless, they have been valuable in identifying the amygdala and hypothalamic pathways linking olfactory stimulation and reproductive behaviors.

Our results are in line with the olfactory-amygdala-hypothalamic function. The findings in chapter 3 showing the projections of ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala, place these cells in the neural circuits previously described. In this chapter, we show that ProkR2-Cre neurons in the posterior amygdala are responsive to opposite sex odors and appear to be primarily associated with sex recognition via olfactory input considering the percentage of Fos-ir cells expressing ProkR2-Cre GFP is similar comparing odor exposure and sexual behavior. Reinforcing this interpretation is the fact that we found a more robust response with female soiled bedding compared to male soiled bedding exposure indicating that ProkR2-Cre neurons are responsive to opposite sex odors and may play a role in social recognition of opposite sex mates. This is consistent with previous research implicating the posterior amygdala in mating and soiled bedding test in mice using Fos-ir as a metric [54-57].

Other studies in mice have looked at the posterior amygdala in male-male interaction but with social and resident-intruder assays allowing for physical interactions [58]. Additionally, they assessed a subset of posterior amygdala cells, the ER α positive cells. Those projecting to the medial preoptic nucleus were activated during mating and were necessary and sufficient for sexual behaviors in males, while those projecting to the ventromedial hypothalamus were activated during intermale aggression [59]. Our studies agree with these findings as we observed a significant increase in circulating LH levels following stimulation of the ProkR2-Cre neurons

of the posterior amygdala. We also found a positive correlation between peak LH values and number of Fos immunoreactive neurons in the posterior amygdala. The variability of LH values from mouse to mouse may be due to several aspects. The experimental approach we used requires injection of a Cre-dependent AAV bilaterally into a very small area. Although we have maintained consistent injection volume and stereotaxic coordinates, small differences are expected. Distinct subsets and number of Prokr2-Cre cells may be targeted in different mice, inducing a variable response.

We learned from our findings in chapter 3 that ProkR2-Cre cells from the posterior amygdala project to many brain sites. It is possible that Prokr2-Cre neurons are chemically heterogeneous and that subpopulations project to distinct brain sites. In fact, we showed in chapter 2 that only a subpopulation of ProkR2-Cre neurons in the posterior amygdala coexpresses gonadal steroids receptors [18]. Our experimental approach does not allow for dissociation between specific subsets of ProkR2 neurons, therefore further studies are necessary to define whether these neurons have distinct neural circuitry and function.

With regards to female reproductive physiology, more work needs to be done to identify the behavioral role, if any, and whether the projection patterns in females are also indicative of a neural circuit capable of affecting LH secretion.

4.5 References

- 1. de San Juan, A Maestre and Teratologia, A. (1856). Falta total de los nerviosolfactorios con anosmia en un individuo en quien existia una atrofia congenita de los testiculos y miembro viril. *Siglo Medico* 131, 211.
- 2. Kallmann, F. J. (1944). The genetic aspect of primary eunuchoidism. *Am J Ment Defic* 48, 203–236.
- **3.** Dodé, C., and Hardelin, J.-P. (2009). Kallmann syndrome. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 17, 139–146. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.206.
- Kim, S. H. (2015). Congenital Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism and Kallmann Syndrome: Past, Present, and Future. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* 30, 456–66. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2015.30.4.456.
- **5.** Stamou, M. I., and Georgopoulos, N. A. (2018). Kallmann syndrome: phenotype and genotype of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Metabolism* 86, 124–134. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.10.012.
- 6. Dodé, C., Teixeira, L., Levilliers, J., Fouveaut, C., Bouchard, P., Kottler, M.-L., et al. (2006). Kallmann syndrome: mutations in the genes encoding prokineticin-2 and prokineticin receptor-2. *PLoS Genet* 2, e175. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020175.
- Abreu, A. P., Trarbach, E. B., de Castro, M., Frade Costa, E. M., Versiani, B., Matias Baptista, M. T., et al. (2008). Loss-of-Function Mutations in the Genes Encoding Prokineticin-2 or Prokineticin Receptor-2 Cause Autosomal Recessive Kallmann Syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, 4113–4118. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0958.
- Hardelin, J. P., and Dodé, C. (2008). The complex genetics of Kallmann syndrome: KAL1, FGFR1, FGF8, PROKR2, PROK2, et al. *Sexual Development* 2, 181–193. doi: 10.1159/000152034.
- Martin, C., Balasubramanian, R., Dwyer, A. A., Au, M. G., Sidis, Y., Kaiser, U. B., et al. (2011). The Role of the Prokineticin 2 Pathway in Human Reproduction: Evidence from the Study of Human and Murine Gene Mutations. *Endocr Rev* 32, 225–246. doi: 10.1210/er.2010-0007.
- Avbelj Stefanija, M., Jeanpierre, M., Sykiotis, G. P., Young, J., Quinton, R., Abreu, A. P., et al. (2012). An ancient founder mutation in PROKR2 impairs human reproduction. *Hum Mol Genet* 21, 4314–4324. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds264.
- Mkaouar, R., Abdallah, L. C. Ben, Naouali, C., Lahbib, S., Turki, Z., Elouej, S., et al. (2021). Oligogenic Inheritance Underlying Incomplete Penetrance of PROKR2 Mutations in Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism. *Front Genet* 12, 665174. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.665174.

- 12. Yuan, H., Deng, S., Gao, W., Li, H., and Yuan, M. (2021). Identification of MMACHC and PROKR2 mutations causing coexistent cobalamin C disease and Kallmann syndrome in a young woman. *Metab Brain Dis* 36, 447–452. doi: 10.1007/s11011-020-00654-8.
- **13.** Sugisawa, C., Taniyama, M., Sato, T., Takahashi, Y., Hasegawa, T., and Narumi, S. (2022). Biallelic PROKR2 variants and congenital hypogonadotropic hypogonadism: a case report and a literature review. *Endocr J* 69, EJ21-0779. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ21-0779.
- 14. Ng, K. L. (2005). Dependence of Olfactory Bulb Neurogenesis on Prokineticin 2 Signaling. *Science (1979)* 308, 1923–1927. doi: 10.1126/science.1112103.
- Matsumoto, S. -i., Yamazaki, C., Masumoto, K. -h., Nagano, M., Naito, M., Soga, T., et al. (2006). Abnormal development of the olfactory bulb and reproductive system in mice lacking prokineticin receptor PKR2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 4140–4145. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508881103.
- **16.** Wen, Y., Zhang, Z., Li, Z., Liu, G., Tao, G., Song, X., et al. (2019). The PROK2/PROKR2 signaling pathway is required for the migration of most olfactory bulb interneurons. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 527, 2931–2947. doi: 10.1002/cne.24719.
- Mohsen, Z., Sim, H., Garcia-Galiano, D., Han, X., Bellefontaine, N., Saunders, T. L., et al. (2017). Sexually dimorphic distribution of Prokr2 neurons revealed by the Prokr2-Cre mouse model. *Brain Struct Funct*. doi: 10.1007/s00429-017-1456-5.
- 18. Cisneros-Larios, B., and Elias, C. F. (2023). Sex differences in the coexpression of prokineticin receptor 2 and gonadal steroids receptors in mice. *Front Neuroanat* 16. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2022.1057727.
- Krashes, M. J., Shah, B. P., Madara, J. C., Olson, D. P., Strochlic, D. E., Garfield, A. S., et al. (2014). An excitatory paraventricular nucleus to AgRP neuron circuit that drives hunger. *Nature* 507, 238. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature12956.
- **20.** McGill, T. E. (1962). Sexual Behavior in Three Inbred Strains of Mice. *Behaviour* 19, 341–350. doi: 10.1163/156853962X00087.
- **21.** André, G. I., Firman, R. C., and Simmons, L. W. (2021). The effect of baculum shape and mating behavior on mating-induced prolactin release in female house mice. *Behavioral Ecology*. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arab083.
- 22. Powers, J. B. (1970). Hormonal control of sexual receptivity during the estrous cycle of the rat. *Physiol Behav* 5, 831–835. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(70)90167-8.
- 23. Caligioni, C. S. (2009). "Assessing reproductive status/stages in mice," in *Current Protocols in Neuroscience* (Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.). doi: 10.1002/0471142301.nsa04is48.

- 24. McLean, A. C., Valenzuela, N., Fai, S., and Bennett, S. A. L. (2012). Performing Vaginal Lavage, Crystal Violet Staining, and Vaginal Cytological Evaluation for Mouse Estrous Cycle Staging Identification. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. doi: 10.3791/4389.
- **25.** García-Brull, P. D., Núñez, J., and Núñez, A. (1993). The effect of scents on the territorial and aggressive behaviour of laboratory rats. *Behav. Processes* 29, 25–36. doi: 10.1016/0376-6357(93)90025-M.
- **26.** Miczek, K. A., Maxson, S. C., Fish, E. W., and Faccidomo, S. (2001). Aggressive behavioral phenotypes in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 125, 167–81. doi: 10.1016/s0166-4328(01)00298-4.
- 27. Krashes, M. J., Koda, S., Ye, C., Rogan, S. C., Adams, A. C., Cusher, D. S., et al. (2011). Rapid, reversible activation of AgRP neurons drives feeding behavior in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 1424–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI46229.
- **28.** Donato, J., Cravo, R. M., Frazão, R., Gautron, L., Scott, M. M., Lachey, J., et al. (2011). Leptin's effect on puberty in mice is relayed by the ventral premammillary nucleus and does not require signaling in Kiss1 neurons. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 355–368. doi: 10.1172/JCI45106.
- 29. Mahany, E. B., Han, X., Borges, B. C., da Silveira Cruz-Machado, S., Allen, S. J., Garcia-Galiano, D., et al. (2018). Obesity and High-Fat Diet Induce Distinct Changes in Placental Gene Expression and Pregnancy Outcome. *Endocrinology* 159, 1718–1733. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-03053.
- 30. Adams, J. M., Otero-Corchon, V., Hammond, G. L., Veldhuis, J. D., Qi, N., and Low, M. J. (2015). Somatostatin Is Essential for the Sexual Dimorphism of GH Secretion, Corticosteroid-Binding Globulin Production, and Corticosterone Levels in Mice. *Endocrinology* 156, 1052–1065. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1429.
- **31.** Steyn, F. J., Wan, Y., Clarkson, J., Veldhuis, J. D., Herbison, A. E., and Chen, C. (2013). Development of a methodology for and assessment of pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in juvenile and adult male mice. *Endocrinology* 154, 4939–45. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1502.
- 32. Sah, P., Faber, E. S. L., Lopez de Armentia, M., and Power, J. (2003). The Amygdaloid Complex: Anatomy and Physiology. *Physiol Rev* 83, 803–834. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00002.2003.
- **33.** Swanson, L. W., and Petrovich, G. D. (1998). What is the amygdala? *Trends Neurosci* 21, 323–331. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(98)01265-X.
- **34.** Swanson, L. W. (2000). Cerebral hemisphere regulation of motivated behavior11Published on the World Wide Web on 2 November 2000. *Brain Res* 886, 113–164. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02905-X.

- **35.** Scalia, F., and Winans, S. S. (1975). The differential projections of the olfactory bulb and accessory olfactory bulb in mammals. *J Comp Neurol* 161, 31–55. doi: 10.1002/cne.901610105.
- **36.** Haberly, L. B., and Price, J. L. (1977). The axonal projection patterns of the mitral and tufted cells of the olfactory bulb in the rat. *Brain Res* 129, 152–157. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(77)90978-7.
- **37.** Davis, B. J., Macrides, F., Youngs, W. M., Schneider, S. P., and Rosene, D. L. (1978). Efferents and centrifugal afferents of the main and accessory olfactory bulbs in the hamster. *Brain Res Bull* 3, 59–72. doi: 10.1016/0361-9230(78)90062-X.
- **38.** Belluscio, L., Koentges, G., Axel, R., and Dulac, C. (1999). A Map of Pheromone Receptor Activation in the Mammalian Brain. *Cell* 97, 209–220. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80731-X.
- **39.** Rodriguez, I., Feinstein, P., and Mombaerts, P. (1999). Variable Patterns of Axonal Projections of Sensory Neurons in the Mouse Vomeronasal System. *Cell* 97, 199–208. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80730-8.
- **40.** Yoshihara, Y., Mizuno, T., Nakahira, M., Kawasaki, M., Watanabe, Y., Kagamiyama, H., et al. (1999). A Genetic Approach to Visualization of Multisynaptic Neural Pathways Using Plant Lectin Transgene. *Neuron* 22, 33–41. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80676-5.
- **41.** Canteras, N. S., Simerly, R. B., and Swanson, L. W. (1995). Organization of projections from the medial nucleus of the amygdala: A PHAL study in the rat. *J Comp Neurol* 360, 213–245. doi: 10.1002/cne.903600203.
- **42.** Coolen, L. M., and Wood, R. I. (1998). Bidirectional connections of the medial amygdaloid nucleus in the Syrian hamster brain: simultaneous anterograde and retrograde tract tracing. *J Comp Neurol* 399, 189–209. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9721903.
- **43.** Maras, P. M., and Petrulis, A. (2010). Anatomical connections between the anterior and posterodorsal sub-regions of the medial amygdala: integration of odor and hormone signals. *Neuroscience* 170, 610–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.06.075.
- 44. Pardo-Bellver, C., Cádiz-Moretti, B., Novejarque, A., Martínez-García, F., and Lanuza, E. (2012). Differential efferent projections of the anterior, posteroventral, and posterodorsal subdivisions of the medial amygdala in mice. *Front Neuroanat* 6. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2012.00033.
- **45.** Keshavarzi, S., Sullivan, R. K. P., Ianno, D. J., and Sah, P. (2014). Functional Properties and Projections of Neurons in the Medial Amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 8699–8715. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1176-14.2014.

- **46.** Macrides, F., Bartke, A., Fernandez, F., and D'Angelo, W. (1974). Effects of Exposure to Vaginal Odor and Receptive Females on Plasma Testosterone in the Male Hamster. *Neuroendocrinology* 15, 355–364. doi: 10.1159/000122326.
- **47.** Maruniak, J. A., and Bronson, F. H. (1976). Gonadotropic responses of male mice to female urine. *Endocrinology* 99, 963–969. doi: 10.1210/endo-99-4-963.
- **48.** Purvis, K., and Haynes, N. B. (1978). Effect of the odour of female rat urine on plasma testosterone concentrations in male rats. *J Reprod Fertil* 53, 63–5. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/641899.
- **49.** Beltramino, C., and Taleisnik, S. (1983). Release of LH in the female rat by olfactory stimuli. Effect of the removal of the vomeronasal organs or lesioning of the accessory olfactory bulbs. *Neuroendocrinology* 36, 53–8. doi: 10.1159/000123436.
- **50.** Beltramino, C., and Taleisnik, S. (1985). Ventral premammillary nuclei mediate pheromonalinduced LH release stimuli in the rat. *Neuroendocrinology* 41, 119–24. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4047330.
- **51.** Kondo, Y. (1992). Lesions of the medial amygdala produce severe impairment of copulatory behavior in sexually inexperienced male rats. *Physiol Behav* 51, 939–943. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(92)90074-C.
- **52.** DiBenedictis, B. T., Ingraham, K. L., Baum, M. J., and Cherry, J. A. (2012). Disruption of urinary odor preference and lordosis behavior in female mice given lesions of the medial amygdala. *Physiol Behav* 105, 554–9. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.014.
- **53.** Beltramino, C., and Taleisnik, S. (1978). Facilitatory and inhibitory effects of electrochemical stimulation of the amygdala on the release of luteinizing hormone. *Brain Res* 144, 95–107. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/565243.
- 54. Kollack, S. S., and Newman, S. W. (1992). Mating behavior induces selective expression of Fos protein within the chemosensory pathways of the male Syrian hamster brain. *Neurosci Lett* 143, 223–8. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1436670.
- **55.** Kollack-Walker, S., and Newman, S. W. (1995). Mating and agonistic behavior produce different patterns of Fos immunolabeling in the male Syrian hamster brain. *Neuroscience* 66, 721–736. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(94)00563-K.
- **56.** Kollack-Walker, S., and Newman, S. W. (1997). Mating-induced expression of c-fos in the male Syrian hamster brain: role of experience, pheromones, and ejaculations. *J Neurobiol* 32, 481–501. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9110260.
- **57.** Yokosuka, M., Matsuoka, M., Ohtani-Kaneko, R., Iigo, M., Hara, M., Hirata, K., et al. (1999). Female-soiled bedding induced Fos immunoreactivity in the ventral part of the

premammillary nucleus (PMv) of the male mouse. *Physiol Behav* 68, 257–261. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(99)00160-2.

- **58.** Zha, X., Wang, L., Jiao, Z.-L., Yang, R.-R., Xu, C., and Xu, X.-H. (2020). VMHvl-Projecting Vglut1+ Neurons in the Posterior Amygdala Gate Territorial Aggression. *Cell Rep* 31, 107517. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.03.081.
- **59.** Yamaguchi, T., Wei, D., Song, S. C., Lim, B., Tritsch, N. X., and Lin, D. (2020). Posterior amygdala regulates sexual and aggressive behaviors in male mice. *Nat Neurosci* 23, 1111–1124. doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-0675-x.
- **60.** Boettger-Tong, H., Murthy, L., Chiappetta, C., Kirkland, J. L., Goodwin, B., Adlercreutz, H., et al. (1998). A case of a laboratory animal feed with high estrogenic activity and its impact on in vivo responses to exogenously administered estrogens. *Environ Health Perspect* 106, 369–73. doi: 10.1289/ehp.98106369.
- Brown, N. M., and Setchell, K. D. (2001). Animal models impacted by phytoestrogens in commercial chow: implications for pathways influenced by hormones. *Lab Invest* 81, 735–47. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780282.
- **62.** Thigpen, J. E., Setchell, K. D. R., Saunders, H. E., Haseman, J. K., Grant, M. G., and Forsythe, D. B. (2004). Selecting the Appropriate Rodent Diet for Endocrine Disruptor Research and Testing Studies. *ILAR J* 45, 401–416. doi: 10.1093/ilar.45.4.401.
- **63.** Dinsdale, E. C., and Ward, W. E. (2010). Early exposure to soy isoflavones and effects on reproductive health: a review of human and animal studies. *Nutrients* 2, 1156–87. doi: 10.3390/nu2111156.



Figure 4.1: Fos immunoreactivity (ir) in the posterior amygdala following sexual behavior. (A-B) Fluorescent micrographs showing Fos-ir (A) and (B) merge with posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a cells of male exposed to an empty cage. Fluorescent micrographs for (C) Fos-ir and (D) merge with posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a of male exposed to a proestrus female. (E) Quantification of Fos following exposure to an empty cage or a proestrus female. (F) Percentage of Fos-ir cells coexpressing ProkR2-Cre eGFP following sexual behavior. Abbreviation: PA: posterior amygdala. Scale=200 µm.



Figure 4.2: Fos immunoreactivity (ir) in the posterior amygdala of males following exposure to female soiled bedding. Fluorescent micrographs showing Fos-ir following (A) clean bedding and (B) merge with posterior amygdala ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a cells of male exposed to clean bedding. Fluorescent micrographs for (C) Fos-ir and (D) merge with PA ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a cells of male exposed to female soiled bedding. (E) Quantification of Fos and (F) percentage of Fos-ir cells with GFP following bedding exposure, p=<0.005. Abbreviations: LV: lateral ventricle; PA: posterior amygdala. Scale=200 µm.



Figure 4.3: Fos immunoreactivity (ir) in the posterior amygdala of males following exposure to male soiled bedding. (A-B) DAB and Nickel staining for GFP and Fos in the posterior amygdala, respectively, following exposure to clean bedding (C-D). DAB and Nickel staining for GFP and Fos in the posterior amygdala, respectively, following exposure to male soiled bedding. Quantification of (E) Fos and (F) percentage of Fos-ir cells with GFP following bedding exposure. Abbreviation: PA: posterior amygdala. Scale bar: A,C=200 µm, B,D=100 µm



Figure 4

Figure 4.4: Schematic illustration of the experimental design. (A) Bilateral injection of Cre dependent hM3Dq into the posterior amygdala. (B) Timeline for blood sample collections using automated culex sampling.



Figure 4.5: ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala (PA) express hM3Dq-mCherry. (A) Fluorescent micrographs showing successful expression of hM3Dq-mCherry in the posterior amygdala. (B) Fluorescent micrographs for GFP showing distribution of ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a cells. (C) Brightfield micrographs showing expression of Fos-ir following clozapine N oxide (CNO) injection. (D) All channels merged showing Fos-ir within hM3Dq expressing ProkR2-Cre eGFP-L10a cells. Abbreviations: LV, lateral ventricle. Scale=200 µm



Figure 4.6: Chemogenetic activation of ProkR2-Cre neurons of the posterior amygdala (PA) induces luteinizing hormone (LH) secretion. (A) CNO increases LH in males with successful hM3Dq injection in the posterior amygdala. Each green line represents one mouse. The dark green line represents mean \pm SEM of all data combined (n= 6 mice). (B) CNO increases LH in males with hM3Dq injections centered in the posterior amygdala with contamination of adjacent nuclei (posteroventral subdivision of the medial amygdala (MePV) and cortical amygdala). Dark purple line represents mean \pm SEM of all data combined (n= 5 mice). (C) CNO administration does not increase LH secretion in males with injections outside of the posterior amygdala. Each light magenta lines represents one mouse. The dark magenta line represents mean \pm SEM of all data combined (n = 8 mice). (D) Mean area under the curve is significantly higher in males with posterior amygdala hit. p<0.05. (E) Positive correlation between peak LH values and number of Fos-ir neurons in the PA. Magenta represents a mouse with a missed injection to the posterior amygdala. Green represents a mouse with a hit injection to the posterior amygdala.
Chapter 5 Conclusions

The PROK2/PROKR2 system is critical for development and migration of GnRH neurons. Genetic studies in humans showed that mutations in this system often result in reproductive deficits and animals models confirmed that PROK2/PROKR2 genes are necessary for sexual maturation. However, beyond involvement in GnRH neuronal migration, the role of PROKR2 expressing cells in adult reproduction had not been investigated due to animal models limitations.

The ProkR2-Cre mouse model allowed us to selectively label and target ProkR2 cells of the posterior amygdala. The expression of Cre-induced reporter gene is consistent with the *Prokr2* gene expression in adult mice. We can reliably use this mouse model to target specific *Prokr2*-expressing cell populations. Using this mouse model, we focused our studies on adult reproduction in a mouse with an intact HPG axis. In chapter 2, we showed that the posterior amygdala of both sexes is the only brain site with significant and consistent colocalization of ProkR2-Cre and gonadal steroid receptors, i.e., AR and ERα. These findings indicate that ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala can sense androgens and estradiol and are likely involved in reproductive behaviors dependent on the gonadal steroid milieu. We then built on these findings in Chapter 3 and identified the projection sites. We found that the ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala of both males and females project to sites associated with neuroendocrine responses and motivated behaviors. We performed a series of sexual behavior

92

and conspecific odor exposure (i.e., soiled bedding tests) and found that ProkR2-Cre cells are likely involved in the social recognition of opposite sex in males. We further hypothesized that this response was part of the circuitry that integrates sensory stimulation and neuroendocrine responses. To test this hypothesis, we use the DREADDs approach and found that activation of Prokr2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala in males resulted in increase of circulating LH. We found a positive correlation between number of Fos-positive cells in the posterior amygdala and peak LH levels in males. These findings demonstrate that ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala of responding to gonadal steroids, are activated by female olfactory cues (in males) and are apt to stimulate LH secretion in the presence of an opposite sex mate allowing for reproductive success.

5.1 Limitations and Future Studies

In chapter 2 we identified subpopulations of ProkR2-Cre cells that express AR or ER α . We know from studies in other mammalian species that the posterior amygdala has a subpopulation of neurons that express both receptors. Due to experimental constraint, we were not able to define if a subset of ProkR2-Cre in the posterior amygdala coexpress AR and ER α and whether they project to distinct forebrain sites.

The use of a Cre-dependent AAV-ChR2-mCherry allowed us to selectively infect ProkR2-Cre cells and label their projections. Our findings indicate similar projection patterns in male and female mice. However, our approach does not identify the specific neuronal targets and synaptic contacts. Use of high magnification tools (e.g., electron microscopy), optogenetic-guided neuronal circuit identification, and/or synaptic markers coupled with high resolution microscopy

are necessary to distinguish synaptic contacts from fibers of passage. Futures studies should also evaluate the brain sites that innervate *Prokr2*-expressing cells of the posterior amygdala, that is brain sites expressing the ligand prokineticin 2. These findings will further inform the understanding of the neural circuitry of the PROK2/PROKR2 system.

The soiled bedding exposure tests were done using sexually-experienced male mice given the robust literature showing an increased response to soiled bedding after sexual encounters. Since our objective was identifying the potential activation of ProkR2-Cre cells in response to olfactory cues, this approach was appropriate. Additional studies, however, must be done to fully characterize the role of Prokr2-Cre response to odor in sexually naïve mice. Additionally, further studies are needed to assess the role of Prokr2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala in female mice. Investigating maternal behavior and other social behaviors is warranted.

We were able to selectively deliver and express 'excitatory' DREADDs in neurons of the posterior amygdala in males. This method allowed us to activate ProkR2-Cre cells and measure their impact on circulating LH. Though we found there was a positive correlation between peak LH values and number of Fos immunoreactive cells in the posterior amygdala, the increase in LH was variable from mouse to mouse, explained at least in part by difference in targeted sites, the specific subpopulation of neurons and number of cells that incorporated the AAV (discussed in Chapter 4). Planning experiments targeting activation of a subset of neurons (i.e., ProkR2-Cre cells projecting to the VMH vs those projecting to the PMv) would provide insights into specific neural pathways capable of stimulating LH secretion. These studies will aid in clarifying our current results.

Our studies activate ProkR2-Cre expressing neurons and, therefore, do not provide insights into the direct impact of the PROK2/PROKR2 signaling on LH secretion. Use of 'excitatory' DREADDs allows for stimulation of cells and for peptides and neurotransmitters to exert their effects on downstream targets. Investigating the impact of PROK2/PROKR2 signaling would require development of a mouse model harboring loxP sites flanking the *Prokr2* gene and designing experiments using AAV's selectively ablate *Prokr2* in those cells. A similar approach could be done using a second mouse model where the *Prok2* gene is floxed. These two approaches combined with neuroendocrine and behavioral tests would identify the impact of PROK2/PROKR2 signaling on reproductive behaviors.

Selective inhibition of ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala is underway in our laboratory. We will assess if inhibition of these neurons will block the LH rise induced by female soilbedding exposure. If we find this to be the case, we will have demonstrated that the ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala are required for the rise in LH following opposite sex odor exposure. On the other hand, if we find the LH secretion is intact after ProkR2-Cre cells of the posterior amygdala are inhibited, we will conclude that ProkR2-Cre cells are sufficient but not required for male response to female odors. We will attribute this observation to the existence of redundancy in the neural pathways controlling the reproductive functions and species survival.